ADMISSIBLE, CONSISTENT MULTIPLE TESTING WITH APPLICATIONS

BY CHUANWEN CHEN

A dissertation submitted to the
Graduate School—New Brunswick
Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Graduate Program in Statistics
Written under the direction of
Arthur Cohen, Harold B. Sackrowitz
and approved by

New Brunswick, New Jersey

May, 2009

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Admissible, consistent multiple testing with applications

by Chuanwen Chen

Dissertation Director: Arthur Cohen, Harold B. Sackrowitz

For multivariate normal models and exponential family models a multiple testing step-

wise method is offered that is both admissible and consistent. The method is readily

adaptable to selecting variables in linear regression models where it is akin to the for-

ward selection method plus a screening stage plus a sign compatibility stage. The

method is also adaptable to testing the local odds ratios in contingency tables in which

the categories are ordered. Examples and simulations are included.

ii

Acknowledgements

First I would like to thank my advisors, Professor Arthur Cohen and Professor Harold B. Sackrowitz, for everything I have learned from, for their guidance, for their great patience and for their encouragement during the whole period of my Ph.D study.

I would also like to thank all the faculty and staff for creating such a great academic environment.

Table of Contents

Al	ostra	et	i
A	cknov	wledgements	iii
1.	Intr	oduction	1
2.	Mod	dels, definitions and preliminaries	7
	2.1.	Models and definitions	7
	2.2.	Risk function	8
	2.3.	Consistency	9
	2.4.	Stepwise procedures for multiple testing	9
		2.4.1. Standard step-down or step-up	10
		2.4.2. MRD for multivariate normal model	11
3.	Ext	ension of MRD to MRDSS	14
	3.1.	MRDSS in multivariate normal model	14
	3.2.	MRDSS in exponential family models	17
	3.3.	Properties of MRDSS	18
		3.3.1. Admissibility of MRDSS	18
		3.3.2. Consistency of MRDSS	23
		3.3.3. Connection between MRD/MRDSS and forward selection	24
	3.4.	Discussion	26
4.	MR	DSS in ordered contingency table	29
	4.1.	Testing of local odds ratios in contingency table	30
	4.2.	$2 \times C$ tables	31
		4.2.1. New methodology	33

		4.2.2. Example	35
	4.3.	$R \times C$ tables	37
		4.3.1. New methodology	37
		4.3.2. Example	40
	4.4.	Sign stage does not have effect in $2 \times C$ tables $\dots \dots \dots$	46
5.	Con	nputational issues and choosing of critical values	50
	5.1.	Computation of MRDSS in multivariate normal model	50
	5.2.	Computation of MRDSS in ordered contingency table	50
	5.3.	Choosing the critical values	52
6.	Sim	ulations of MRDSS in ordered contingency tables	53
	6.1.	Simulation for 3×3 tables	53
	6.2.	Simulation for 3×4 tables	54
7/:	ta		62

Chapter 1

Introduction

Multiple testing in general linear models is a long standing statistical practice. The subject has been given great impetus over the last two decades with applications arising in fields where the numbers of hypotheses to be tested can be extremely large (namely thousands). Such applications are needed in microarrays, astronomy, mutual fund evaluations, proteomics, disclosure risk, cytometry, imaging and others. Traditional methods, usually classified as single step methods, are deemed too conservative, particularly when the number of hypotheses to be tested is very large. To compensate, stepwise procedures were introduced, which enable more rejection of hypotheses. See, for example, Dudoit and Van Der Laan (2008) and Lehmann and Romano (2005) for description and some properties of single step and stepwise procedures. Many stepwise procedures are based on P-values derived from the marginal distributions of relevant test statistics that test an individual hypothesis. Oftentimes, these and other multiple testing procedures (MTPs) are focused on controlling some type of error rate, namely, the familywise error rate (FWER), weak or strong, or the false discovery rate (FDR). Oftentimes the error rate controlling procedures seek to have good average power.

While focusing on error rate control of the overall procedure, sometimes the properties of the ensuing tests of each individual hypothesis is not given enough attention. The resulting test for an individual hypothesis resulting from an MTP (especially a stepwise MTP) can be complicated. Nevertheless, examining the properties of the individual tests can be important. In fact, a decision theory approach to multiple testing, focusing on individual tests, can suggest procedures that do well when evaluated by the expected number of type I errors and expected numbers of type II errors. This represents another way to evaluate MTPs. See Dudoit and Van Der Laan (2008) where

attention is given to type I and type II errors as well as to error rate controlling procedures.

Before going further, a few examples are helpful.

Example 1 (multivariate normal): given $X \sim N(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \sigma^2 \Sigma)$, where $\boldsymbol{\mu}$ is unknown $n \times 1$ vector, Σ is a known positive definite matrix, σ^2 is either known or can be estimated by s^2 . We intend to test hypothesis $H_i : \mu_i = 0$ vs $K_i : \mu_i \neq 0, i = 1, ..., n$. Here the total number of hypotheses is n.

If the matrix Σ is diagonal, then test statistics (X_i) for individual hypothesis are independent. Otherwise these test statistics are dependent.

Example 2 (independent binomial models): given a $2 \times C$ contingency table X from independent binomial model, where the C categories are ordered in some sense, we intend to test whether the adjacent binomial parameters are equal or not, i.e., $X_i \sim \text{Binomial}(n_i, p_i), i = 1, ..., C$; we want to test $H_i : p_i = p_{(i+1)}$ vs $K_i : p_i \neq p_{(i+1)}$, i = 1, ..., (C-1). Here the total number of hypotheses is (C-1).

In example 2, the test statistics for individual hypothesis are most likely dependent.

Example 3 (pairwise comparison): Instead of comparing adjacent binomial parameters, in the situation that the C categories are not ordered, it might be of interest to compare any two of the categories. So now there are a total of C(C-1)/2 hypotheses. And there are logical constraints on the true hypotheses. Decision results of testing for this case might or might not need to observe those logical constraints.

In general, we have m hypotheses to be tested of which m_0 hypotheses are true. Let R be the number of hypotheses rejected, following table summarizes the testing result.

	Declared non-significant	Declared significant	Total
true null hypotheses	U	V	m_0
non-true null hypotheses	T	S	$m-m_0$
Total	m-R	R	m

The family-wise error rate(FWER) is the probability of rejecting at least one null hypothesis that is true null, i.e., FWER is $P(V \ge 1)$, and false discovery rate (FDR) is $E[V/\max(R, 1)]$.

A MTP which controls FWER at level α when $m_0 = m$ is said to control weak FWER. If FWER is controlled at level α regardless of m_0 , it is called strong FWER control. Weak FWER control is not very appealing. When we say FWER control, we implicitly mean strong FWER control.

Most popular stepwise methods often intend to achieve more power while controlling FWER(weak or strong) or FDR at predefined level.

A multiple testing procedure is a closure testing procedure (Marcus et al., 1976) if it works in following way:

Start with a family of hypotheses $F_0 = \{H_1, \ldots, H_m\}$, let $I_m = \{1, \ldots, m\}$ be the index of hypotheses. First construct a set of hypotheses through intersection of set F_0 , i.e., $F_1 = \{\bigcap_{k \in I} H_k : I \subseteq I_m\}$. Let $F_{1i} = \{\bigcap_{k \in I} H_k : \{i\} \subseteq I \subseteq I_m\}$. Clearly F_{1i} is a subset of F_1 . The testing has two steps. Step 1, for each intersection hypothesis in F_1 , perform an individual test at level α . Step 2, for each hypothesis H_i in F_0 , reject it if at step 1 all hypotheses in F_{1i} are rejected. The decision made at step 2 is the final decision for each hypothesis in F_0 .

It turns out that all testing procedures that control FWER are either closure testing procedures, or shortcuts to closure testing procedures.

Note that the tests at step 2 of a closure testing are induced from testing at step 1.

Although the individual testing at step 1 can be simple, the test at step 2 can get quite complicated, i.e., the individual test induced from a MTP procedure could be complex.

In a series of papers, Cohen and Sackrowitz (2005a), (2005b), (2007), (2008) and Cohen, Kolassa, and Sackrowitz (2007) have shown that many of the standard stepwise procedures under a wide variety of assumptions, often turn out to be inadmissible for a variety of risk functions that involve both expected type I and expected type II errors. Specifically, for popular step-down MTPs, in multivariate normal model, under typical conditions, it is shown that there exists other MTP whose individual test has smaller type I and type II error.

For exponential family models the inadmissibility is often shown to follow because in testing an individual hypothesis, relevant acceptance sections are not intervals. This represents a disturbing practical shortcoming of many of the usual procedures.

In response to the inadmissibility property and the fact that many stepwise procedures are based on the marginal distributions of test statistics, even when they are statistically dependent, Cohen, Sackrowitz and Xu (CSX) (2009) recommend a new MTP method called maximum residual down (MRD). MRD takes correlation into account and is admissible (in exponential family models) for a risk function that focuses on expected type I and type II errors.

However, for some models the MRD method is not consistent. See Chapter 2 for a formal definition of consistency. Informally, consistent means that the probability of correctly testing each hypothesis tends to 1 as the sample size tends to infinity and as critical values tend to infinity at a certain rate.

In this thesis we introduce a modification of MRD which offers a procedure that is admissible and consistent. The modification, discussed in Chapter 3, adds a screening stage and sign stage to MRD. Call the new procedure MRDSS. The method is applicable to exponential family models, and to other models as well, if sample sizes are large.

Variable selection in the linear regression context is a special multiple testing problem. We will apply the method to selection of variable models in regression. MRD is shown to be equivalent to a forward method in this context. Modification to MRD will be accordingly a modification of forward method.

In another problem we also apply the method to testing all local odds ratios in an $R \times C$ contingency table.

For the selection of variables model, the MRD method is shown to be equivalent to some forward method of selecting variables. See Miller (2002) for a discussion of forward methods. Both MRD and the forward method are stepwise methods based on what we define as residuals. Forward methods and hence MRD are typically not consistent. See, for example, An and Gu (1985). We show that MRDSS, and thus a modification of the forward methods, is admissible and consistent under modest and typical conditions on the critical values and design matrix. The computational feasibility of MRDSS in the selection of variables model is the same as forward selection, i.e, it is feasible for very large problem.

MRDSS can be extended to other exponential family models. In this thesis, we extend MRDSS to multiple testing of odds ratios in 2×2 subtables of $R \times C$ tables, in which the categories are ordered in some sense. Following table is an example.

	Worse	Same	Slight Better	Better	Cured
Dose 1	x_{11}	x_{12}	x_{13}	x_{14}	x_{15}
Dose 2	x_{21}	x_{22}	x_{23}	x_{24}	x_{25}
Dose r	x_{r1}	x_{r2}	x_{r3}	x_{r4}	x_{r5}

This problem was discussed in Shaffer (1986). The accept region of usual stepwise procedures are not convex, which render them inadmissible. See Chen, Cohen, and Sackrowitz (2009b) for examples. A new methodology, which is an application of MRDSS, is given for this problem.

In the next Chapter we state the problem for multivariate normal model, including definitions and other preliminaries. Stepwise methods, including step-down, step-up and MRD, are described in this chapter. Extension of MRD to MRDSS is given in Chapter 3 for the multivariate normal model, and the connection between MRD and forward selection is described. Admissibility and consistency of usual step-down, step-up, MRD and MRDSS are investigated. In Chapter 4, MRDSS is applied to test of local odds ratios in contingency table with ordered categories. We use either a Poisson model or multinomial model, conditioned on row and column sums. The new methodology is demonstrated with two examples, one for the simple $2 \times C$ case, one for the more general $R \times C$ case. Chapter 5 discuss computational related issues, mainly the MRDSS method in testing of local odds ratios and the choosing of critical values. In Chapter 6, a simulation study to compare MRDSS versus step-down method is given for testing of local odds ratios.

Chapter 2

Models, definitions and preliminaries

We start with a very general multiple testing problem. Let X be a random vector that is distributed as $f(X|\theta)$, where θ is unknown $M \times 1$ vector parameters. We intend to test $H_i: \theta_i = 0$ vs $K_i: \theta_i \neq 0, i = 1, ..., m$, where $m \leq M$. The distribution function f usually belongs to a family of distribution, and indexed by θ . In this thesis, we assume the family (of distributions) is one class of exponential family, and θ are natural parameters of the exponential family.

2.1 Models and definitions

The first model posed has a random sample of $M \times 1$ vectors, \mathbf{X}_{α} , $\alpha = 1, ..., n$, from a multivariate normal distribution whose mean vector is $\boldsymbol{\mu}$ and whose covariance matrix is Γ . Sometimes Γ is known and sometimes $\Gamma = \sigma^2 \Sigma$ where Σ is known and σ^2 is unknown. In the later case, $s^2 = \sum_{\alpha=1}^n (\mathbf{X}_{\alpha} - \bar{\mathbf{X}})' \Sigma^{-1} (\mathbf{X}_{\alpha} - \bar{\mathbf{X}}) / M(n-1)$ is an unbiased estimator of σ^2 , which is independent of $\bar{\mathbf{X}} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^n \mathbf{X}_{\alpha}/n$. For the first model the density of $\bar{\mathbf{X}}$ is

$$f_{\mathbf{\bar{X}}}(\mathbf{\bar{x}} \mid \boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}) = (n^{1/2}/(2\pi)^{M/2} \mid \boldsymbol{\Gamma} \mid^{1/2}) \exp\left\{-n/2(\mathbf{\bar{x}} - \boldsymbol{\mu})'\boldsymbol{\Gamma}^{-1}(\mathbf{\bar{x}} - \boldsymbol{\mu})\right\}$$

$$= \beta(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\Gamma})h(\mathbf{\bar{x}}) \exp n\mathbf{\bar{x}}'\boldsymbol{\Gamma}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\mu}$$
(2.1.1)

We wish to test $H_i: \mu_i = 0$ vs $K_i: \mu_i \neq 0, i = 1, 2, ..., M$.

The general linear model has $\mathbf{Y} = A\boldsymbol{\beta} + \boldsymbol{\epsilon}$ where \mathbf{Y} is an $n \times 1$ vector which is multivariate normal with mean vector $A\boldsymbol{\beta}$ and covariance matrix $\sigma^2 I$. $A = (\mathbf{a}_1, ..., \mathbf{a}_M)$ is an $n \times M$ fixed design matrix and $\boldsymbol{\beta}$ is an $M \times 1$ vector of parameters. If A has rank M, then $\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}} = (A'A)^{-1}A'\mathbf{Y} \sim N(\boldsymbol{\beta}, \sigma^2 S^{-1})$ where $S^{-1} = (A'A)^{-1}$. An unbiased

estimator of σ^2 is $s^2 = \text{MSE} = \text{SSE}/(n-M)$, and s^2 is independent of $\hat{\beta}$. Thus this general linear model reduces to our multivariate normal model with $\Gamma = \sigma^2 S^{-1}$. We wish to test $H_i: \beta_i = 0$ vs $K_i: \beta_i \neq 0, i = 1, 2, ..., M$.

Another model considered is an exponential family model. Suppose Z_i , i = 1, 2, ..., Q are independent and have a one dimensional exponential family distribution with natural parameter ω_i , i.e., the joint density of $\mathbf{Z} = (Z_1, ..., Z_Q)'$ is

$$f_{\mathbf{Z}}(\mathbf{z} \mid \boldsymbol{\omega}) = \beta(\boldsymbol{\omega}) h(\mathbf{z}) e^{\mathbf{z}' \boldsymbol{\omega}}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\omega_1, ..., \omega_Q)'$. Let G be a full rank $M \times Q$ matrix of constants, M < Q, and let $B = \binom{G}{F}$, where the rows of F are orthogonal to the rows of G and B has rank Q. Now let $\boldsymbol{\theta} = B\boldsymbol{\omega}$ and note

$$\mathbf{z}'\boldsymbol{\omega} = \mathbf{z}'(B'B'^{-1})B^{-1}\boldsymbol{\theta} = \mathbf{z}'B'(BB')^{-1}\boldsymbol{\theta}$$

If we let $\mathbf{X} = B\mathbf{Z}$, we find the density of \mathbf{X} is

$$f_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathbf{x} \mid \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \beta^*(\boldsymbol{\theta})h^*(\mathbf{x})e^{\mathbf{x}'\Sigma^{-1}\boldsymbol{\theta}}$$
where $\Sigma = BB'$. Further note that $\Sigma = \begin{pmatrix} GG' & 0 \\ 0 & FF' \end{pmatrix}$ and
$$\Sigma^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (GG')^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & (FF')^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

We wish to test $H_i: \theta_i = 0$ vs $K_i: \theta_i \neq 0, i = 1, ..., M$.

2.2 Risk function

Multiple testing procedures are evaluated by considering expected type I error and expected type II error for each individual hypothesis. Let \mathbf{X} represent all the data. An MTP $\Phi(\mathbf{x}) = (\phi_1(\mathbf{x}), ..., \phi_M(\mathbf{x}))'$ where $\phi_i(\mathbf{x})$ is a test function for testing H_i vs K_i , i = 1, ..., M is inadmissible, if there exists another MTP such that for each testing

problem, the expected type I and type II errors are less than or equal to those of $\Phi(\mathbf{x})$ and for at least one type of error and some parameter points strictly less.

Such an evaluation is based on an $M \times 1$ vector risk function where the *i*th component is the typical risk function for testing an individual hypothesis. This vector risk function is least stringent in the sense that if a procedure is inadmissible for the vector risk function it would be inadmissible for any risk that is a monotone function of the expected number of type I and expected number of type II errors.

2.3 Consistency

Consistency is defined in An and Gu (1985) and in Bunea, Wegkamp, and Auguste (2006). Let $I_0 \subseteq \{1, ..., M\} \stackrel{def}{=} I_M$, be the non-zero components of μ . An estimator \hat{I} of I_0 is called consistent if $\lim_{n\to\infty} P\{\hat{I}=I_0\}=1$. If $M_0 \leq M$ is the number of indices in I_0 then \hat{I} is consistent if and only if the MTP leads to M_0 rejections, none of which are erroneous.

If the critical values are to be compared to test statistics as opposed to the P-value determined by the statistics, then consistency is possible only if certain critical values tend to infinity at a certain rate.

2.4 Stepwise procedures for multiple testing

Most popular MTPs that control FWER or FDR are stepwise procedures. Those MTPs are defined in terms of a set of critical values which determine acceptances or rejections at various steps. Stepwise MTPs are more powerful than one-step MTPs in most situations. For the purpose of illustration, we use the problem of testing $H_i: \mu_i = 0$ vs $K_i: \mu_i \neq 0, i = 1, ..., M$.

2.4.1 Standard step-down or step-up

Let p_1, \ldots, p_M denote the P-value of the individual test of hypothesis H_1, \ldots, H_M , respectively. Let $p_{(1)}, \ldots, p_{(M)}$ denote the ordered P-values, and $H_{(1)}, \ldots, H_{(M)}$ the corresponding hypotheses. Given a sequence of critical P-values $\alpha_1 < \alpha_2 < \cdots < \alpha_M$, a step-down procedure is defined as follows:

- (1) If $p_{(1)} < \alpha_1$, reject $H_{(1)}$ and continue to next step, otherwise stop and accept all hypotheses.
- (2) If $P_{(2)} < \alpha_2$, reject $H_{(2)}$ and continue to next step, otherwise stop and accept all remaining hypotheses.
- (3) In general, at step k, if $p_{(k)} < \alpha_k$, reject $H_{(k)}$ and continue to next step, otherwise stop and accept all remaining hypotheses.
 - (4) at last step, step M, if $p_{(M)} < \alpha_M$, reject $H_{(M)}$, otherwise accept $H_{(M)}$.

Let $i_0 = \min\{i : 1 \le i \le M, p_{(i)} \ge \alpha_i\}$, then the step-down method rejects $H_{(1)}, \ldots, H_{(i_0-1)}$.

Note that one can define the step-down method equivalently through a sequence of critical values for test statistics, instead of critical P-values.

If the sequence of critical P-values is chosen to be $\alpha_i = \alpha/(M-i+1)$ (Holm, 1979), then FWER is strongly controlled at α .

While step-down procedures start with the individual most significant hypothesis, i.e, hypothesis with the smallest P-value, the step-up procedures work the opposite way, i.e., start with the invidual least significant hypothesis (the hypothesis with maximal P-values).

Given a sequence of critical P-values $\alpha_1 < \alpha_2 < \cdots < \alpha_M$, step-up method perform testing in following way:

- (1) If $p_{(M)} \ge \alpha_M$, accept $H_{(M)}$ and continue to next step, otherwise stop and reject all hypotheses.
 - (2) If $P_{(M-1)} \geq \alpha_{(M-1)}$, accept $H_{(M-1)}$ and continue to next step, otherwise stop

and reject all remaining hypotheses.

- (3) In general, at step k, if $p_{(M-k+1)} \ge \alpha_{(M-k+1)}$, accept $H_{(M-k+1)}$ and continue to next step, otherwise stop and reject all remaining hypotheses.
 - (4) at last step, step M, if $p_{(1)} \ge \alpha_1$, accept $H_{(1)}$, otherwise reject $H_{(1)}$.

Let $i_1 = \max\{i : 1 \le i \le M, p_{(i)} < \alpha_i\}$, then the step-up method rejects $H_{(1)}, \ldots, H_{(i)}$.

If the sequence of critical P-values is chosen to be $\alpha_i = \alpha/(M-i+1)$ (Hochberg, 1988), then under assumption of independent or positive regression dependence on the set (Sarkar and Chang, 1997), FWER is strongly controlled at α for step-up procedures.

If the sequence of critical P-values is chosen to be $\alpha_i = i\alpha/M$ (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995), then under assumption of independent or positive regression dependent on the set, step-up procedure controls FDR at α .

Except through the change of critical values, the stepwise procedures in above do not take dependence into consideration at all steps. For example, suppose all hypotheses are dependent. Suppose at step 1, hypothesis H_1 is rejected (or accepted), this should affect the significance level of remain hypotheses, or their P-values. But in the above step-down/up procedures, the same set of P-values are used throughout all the steps.

The standard stepwise methods described above only need the P-value of individual hypothesis to perform multiple testing, which means they can be easily applied in a wide range of situations. The computation effort usually is small. However, the other side of this advantage is that because standard stepwise methods only utilize the P-values determined from marginal distribution of individual test statistics, intuitively, they will be less powerful than stepwise methods that take dependence into consideration in every steps.

2.4.2 MRD for multivariate normal model

Cohen, Sackrowitz, and Xu (2009) proposed a new stepdown procedure, called maximum residual down (MRD). MRD takes dependent into consideration in every step.

We start with the multivariate normal model with $\Gamma = \Sigma = (\sigma_{ij})$ known and

nonsingular.

Let $\mathbf{X} = (X_1, ..., X_M)'$, $\mathbf{X}^{(i_1, ..., i_r)}$ be a subvector of \mathbf{X} consisting of all components except $X_{i_1}, ..., X_{i_r}$. $\Sigma_{(i_1, ..., i_r)}$ is the $(M-r) \times (M-r)$ covariance matrix of $\mathbf{X}^{(i_1, ..., i_r)}$, for any $j \neq i_1, ..., i_r$, $\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{(i_1, ..., i_r)}_{(j)}$ is the $(M-r-1) \times 1$ vector of covariances between X_j and all variables except $X_{i_1}, ..., X_{i_r}$ and X_j .

$$\sigma_{(j \cdot i_1, \dots, i_r)}^2 = \sigma_{jj} - \sigma_j^{(i_1, \dots, i_r)'} \Sigma_{(i_1, \dots, i_r, j)}^{-1} \sigma_j^{(i_1, \dots, i_r)}$$
(2.4.1)

is the conditional variance of X_j , given all variables except $X_{i_1},...,X_{i_r},X_j$

Now define the jth normalized residual at step m to be

$$U_{mj}(\mathbf{X}^{(i_1,\dots,i_{m-1})}) = \frac{X_j - \sigma_j^{(i_1,\dots,i_{m-1})'} \Sigma_{(i_1,\dots,i_{m-1},j)}^{-1} \mathbf{X}^{(i_1,\dots,i_{m-1},j)}}{[\sigma_{(j\cdot i_1,\dots,i_{m-1})}^2]^{1/2}}$$
(2.4.2)

m = 1, ..., M. At step m, we let \mathbf{U}_m be the $(M - m + 1) \times 1$ vector of U_{mj} 's. We note that if D_m is the diagonal matrix of the terms in (2.4.1), then

$$\mathbf{U}_m = D_m^{1/2} \Sigma_{(i_1,\dots,i_{m-1})}^{-1} \mathbf{X}^{(i_1,\dots,i_{m-1})}$$

Let $C_1 > C_2 > \cdots > C_M > 0$ be a given set of constants. Then MRD is determined as follows:

At step 1, consider $U_{1j}(\mathbf{X})$, $j \in 1,...,M$. Let $j_1 = j_1(\mathbf{X})$ be such that $|U_{1j_1}(\mathbf{X})| = \max_j |U_{1j}(\mathbf{X})|$. If $|U_{1j_1}(\mathbf{X})| < C_1$, stop and accept all H_i . Otherwise reject H_{1j_1} and continue to step 2.

At step 2, consider the (M-1) functions $U_{2j}(\mathbf{X}^{(j_1)})$, $j \in \{1,...,M\}\setminus\{j_1\}$. Let $j_2 = j_2(\mathbf{X}^{(j_1)})$ be such that $|U_{2j_2}(\mathbf{X}^{(j_1)})| = \max\{|U_{2j}(\mathbf{X}^{(j_1)})| : j \in 1,...,M\setminus\{j_1\}\}$. If $|U_{j_2}| < C_2$ stop and accept all remaining null hypotheses. Otherwise reject H_{j_2} and continue to step 3.

In general, at step m, m = 1, ..., M, consider M - m + 1 functions $U_{mj}(\mathbf{X}^{(j_1, ..., j_{m-1})})$, $j \in \{1, ..., M\} \setminus \{j_1, ..., j_{m-1}\}$. Let $j_m = j_m(\mathbf{X}^{(j_1, ..., j_{m-1})})$ be such that

$$|U_{mj_m}| = \max \left\{ |U_{mj}(\boldsymbol{X}^{(j_1,...,j_{m-1})})| : j \in 1,...,M \setminus \{j_1,...,j_{m-1}\} \right\}.$$

If $|U_{mj_m}| < C_m$, stop and accept all remaining null hypotheses. Otherwise reject H_{j_m} and continue to step m+1 (unless m=M, in which case, stop).

For the multivariate normal model where $\Gamma = \sigma^2 \Sigma$ and σ^2 is unknown, a modification of U_{mj} is called for. The denominator of U_{mj} would be multiplied by some estimator of σ^2 . It could be $s = \sqrt{s^2}$, mentioned in Section 2 or it could be another estimator of σ^2 , say V which would be an unbiased estimator of σ^2 when $\mu = 0$. This latter estimation was used by CSX(2009).

The general linear model discussed in detail in Section 2 is a special case of the the multivariate normal model with $\Gamma = \sigma^2 \Sigma$. The matchups are familiar, i.e., **X** is replaced by $\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$, $\boldsymbol{\mu}$ is replaced by $\boldsymbol{\beta}$, $\sigma^2 \Sigma$ is replaced by $\sigma^2 S^{-1}$ and σ^2 would be estimated by MSE or simply by $\mathbf{y}'\mathbf{y}/n$.

In the event Σ is unknown but enough replications on \mathbf{X} are avaliable, Σ could be estimated by a maximum likelihood estimator, say $\hat{\Sigma}$, and $\hat{\Sigma}$ would replace Σ in the definition of U_{mj} . Should the number of replications, i.e., sample size, be large, the optimality properties of MRDSS should be asymptotically true.

It has been shown that MRD is admissible. For the problem of test treatment vs control, MRD performs favorably to step-up/step-down methods in simulations in terms of total number of errors.

Chapter 3

Extension of MRD to MRDSS

The MTP for the multivariate normal model, called maximum residual down (MRD), has many desirable properties including admissibility. However, on some occasions, the test result of MRD can be counterintuitive. For example, in the multivariate normal model, $X \sim N(\mu, \Sigma)$ with Σ known, we intend to test $H_i : \mu_i = 0$ vs $K_i : \mu_i \neq 0$, i = 1, ..., M. One could construct a special Σ , such that even if $X_1 = 0$, MRD will still reject H_1 . Also, one could construct another special Σ , such that even if $|X_1|/\sqrt{\sigma_{11}}$ is very large, for typical constant critical values, MRD will accept H_1 . This calls for some modifications or extensions of MRD. Here we give one such extension of MRD. The new MTP includes three stages, MRD stage, screen and sign stages. The MRD procedure followed by a screening stage and a sign stage is called MRDSS.

3.1 MRDSS in multivariate normal model

MRDSS starts with MRD stage, which is described in Chapter 2.

To add a screening stage to MRD, let $C_U > C_L > 0$ be two additional constants. Typically $C_L \le C_M < C_U$. Note that $C_1 > C_2 > \cdots > C_M$ are the set of critical values used in MRD stage. After MRD is done, each hypothesis is temporarily accepted or rejected.

Let $H_{j_1},...,H_{j_p}$ be those hypotheses that are rejected. Should any

$$|X_{j_i}|/\sqrt{\sigma_{j_ij_i}} < C_L \,,$$

i = 1, ..., p, then reverse the reject decision to an accept decision.

For those hypotheses that MRD accepted, say, $H_{j_{p+1}},...,H_{j_M}$, reject any for which

$$|X_{j_i}|/\sqrt{\sigma_{j_ij_i}} > C_U \,,$$

$$i = p + 1, ..., M$$
.

Note that the screen stage eliminates the counterintuitive situation that is discussed in the begin of this chapter. However, when MRD rejects a hypothesis, say H_j at step m^* , which means $|U_{m^*j}|$ is maximum among all remaining residuals, and $|U_{m^*j}| > C_{m^*}$, the sign of U_{m^*j} could be positive or negative, which is not necessarily the same as the sign of X_j . This is counterintuitive in some sense. When MRD rejects H_j , roughly saying, under some assumptions, we have evidence that μ_j is nonzero with the same sign of U_{m^*j} . However, when the two signs are not the same, the direct evidence (X_i) does not agree with the one from MRD. Sign stage will handle this situation.

To add a sign stage, we need to slightly modify the MRD stage: record the sign of U_{mj_m} whenever it rejects H_{j_m} . Hence each hypothesis that is rejected by MRD stage will have a sign: + or -. The sign stage considers only those hypotheses rejected by MRD, i.e., $H_{j_1}, ..., H_{j_p}$, and such that $C_L < |X_{j_i}|/\sqrt{\sigma_{j_ij_i}} < C_U$, i = 1, ..., p. Then switch those to accept whenever the sign of X_{j_i} is different from the sign of $U_{m^*j_i}$ where m^* is the step when H_{j_i} was rejected by MRD.

Remark: The screen stage following MRD involves $|X_i|$, i = 1, ..., M. The sign stage involves the sign of U_{m^*i} and the sign of X_i .

Remark: Sign stage only makes sense in the two-side hypothesis testing. It is related to the direction of rejection. Later on, we will give a general definition of sign.

We will illustrate MRDSS in the following example:

Example 3.1

Let $X = (X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4)'$ be such that $X \sim N(\mu, \Sigma)$ where

$$\Sigma = \left(\begin{array}{cccc} 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 2 \end{array}\right).$$

We wish to test $H_i: \mu_i = 0$ vs $K_i: \mu_i \neq 0, i = 1, ..., 4$.

For the purpose of demonstrating the application of MRDSS we will let $C_1 = 2.3, C_2 = 2.0, C_3 = 1.7, C_4 = 1.4, C_L = .6$, and $C_U = 3.6$. Now suppose we observe $X_1 = 1, X_2 = 5, X_3 = 4.7$ and $X_4 = 5.3$.

First we apply MRD. At step 1 the residuals are:

$$U_{11} = \left[X_{1} - (1, 1, 1) \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} (X_{2}, X_{3}, X_{4})' \right] / \left[2 - (1, 1, 1) \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \right]^{1/2}$$

$$= \left[X_{1} - (X_{2} + X_{3} + X_{4}) / 4 \right] (\frac{4}{5})^{1/2} = -2.46$$

$$U_{12} = \left[X_{2} - (X_{1} + X_{3} + X_{4}) / 4 \right] (\frac{4}{5})^{1/2} = 2.01$$

$$U_{13} = \left[X_{3} - (X_{1} + X_{2} + X_{4}) / 4 \right] (\frac{4}{5})^{1/2} = 1.68$$

$$U_{14} = \left[X_{4} - (X_{1} + X_{2} + X_{3}) / 4 \right] (\frac{4}{5})^{1/2} = 2.35$$

$$(3.1.1)$$

Since $|U_{11}|$ is the largest and $|U_{11}| > 2.3 = C_1$, MRD rejects H_1 and goes to the next step. Now with X_1 eliminated,

$$U_{22} = \left[X_2 - (1,1) \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} (X_2, X_4)' \right] / \left[2 - (1,1) \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \right]^{1/2}$$

$$= \left[X_2 - (X_3 + X_4)/3 \right] / \left(\frac{3}{4} \right)^{1/2} = 1.44$$

$$U_{23} = \left[X_3 - (X_2 + X_4)/3 \right] / \left(\frac{3}{4} \right)^{1/2} = 1.10$$

$$U_{24} = \left[X_4 - (X_2 + X_3)/3 \right] / \left(\frac{3}{4} \right)^{1/2} = 1.79$$

Since $|U_{22}|$, $|U_{23}|$ and $|U_{24}|$ are all less than $C_2 = 2.0$, MRD stops and accepts H_2, H_3 , and H_4 .

Next we do the screen stage by comparing each $|X_i/\sqrt{2}|$ to $C_L=.6$ and $C_U=3.6$. We see that $C_L<|X_i/\sqrt{2}|< C_U$ for i=1,2,3 but $|X_4/\sqrt{2}|=3.75>3.6=C_U$. Thus the MRD decision to accept H_4 is reversed to reject H_4 .

Lastly we perform the sign stage. This applies only to hypotheses H_i that were rejected by MRD and for which $C_L < |X_i/\sqrt{2}| < C_U$. In this example only H_1 falls into this category. Upon examination we see that H_1 was rejected at the first step of MRD stage with $U_{11} = -2.46$ while $X_1/\sqrt{2} = .707$. Since these signs are opposite we reverse the MRD decision to reject H_1 .

In conclusion MRDSS will accept H_1, H_2, H_3 and reject H_4 .

3.2 MRDSS in exponential family models

There are many models involving distributions that belong to to the exponential family. For example, hypothesis testing problems involving binomial parameters, Poisson parameters, parameters of exponential distributions, and odds ratios or local odds ratios in contingency tables. Invariably the models and questions can be transformed to the general model given in (2.1.2) in Chapter 2.

For the models dealing with M contrasts among binomial parameters or Poisson parameters, residuals of the type U_{mj} given in (2.4.2) can be formed with $\sigma_{(j \cdot i_1, ..., i_{m-1})}$ replaced by some function of the remaining M-m variables in $\Sigma^{-1}\mathbf{X}$.

More general extensions of MRD could involve different types of residuals and different types of tests based on the "new" type of residuals. A residual can be based on the coefficient multiplying the parameters to be tested, in the expression in the exponent of the multivariate exponential family density. Also the screen stage and sign stage can be more generally defined.

For contingency table models the role of the residuals and the entire MRDSS procedure will be discussed in next Chapter.

3.3 Properties of MRDSS

We will discuss the properties of MRDSS for the multivariate normal model. For exponential family models, the conclusion will follow similarly.

MRDSS can be thought of a family of multiple testing procedures that are parameterized by the critical values C_1, \ldots, C_M and C_L and C_U . The MRD stage of MRDSS takes dependent into consideration in every steps. We will prove that MRDSS is admissible, just like MRD. Due to the screen stage, MRDSS is also consistency.

3.3.1 Admissibility of MRDSS

Consider the setup where X, defined in Section 2, has density (2.1.2) and we wish to test $H_i: \theta_i = 0$ vs $K_i: \theta_i \neq 0$. Let $\psi_i(X)$ be a test function for H_i vs K_i . Let $\mathbf{W} = \Sigma^{-1}X$. A lemma concerning admissibility of any single test, say $\psi_i(X)$, is as follows:

Lemma 3.3.1. A necessary and sufficient condition for $\psi_i(\mathbf{X}) = \psi_i^*(\mathbf{W})$ to be admissible is that for almost every fixed $\{W_j, j = 1, ..., Q; j \neq i\}$, the acceptance section of the test is convex in W_i .

Proof. See Matthes and Truax (1967)
$$\Box$$

Next we define

PROPERTY L: A test is said to have Property L if there exists three points $x, x^* = x + r_1 \mathbf{g}, x^{**} = x + r_2 \mathbf{g}$, with $0 < r_1 < r_2$, such that x and x^{**} are accept points and

 x^* is a reject point when testing H_1 vs K_1 .

Note that a procedure has $Property\ L$ (for a set of positive measure) if and only if it is inadmissible by virtue of Lemma 3.3.1.

Theorem 3.3.2. The MTP $\Phi_{MRDSS}(\mathbf{X})$ is admissible for the vector risk function.

Proof. The proof is by contrapositive. That is, we will assume that Ψ_1 of the MRDSS has Property L and then show that this impossible. That is, we assume that for ψ_1 there exists 3 sample points \boldsymbol{x} , \boldsymbol{x}^* and \boldsymbol{x}^{**} for which we accept, reject, accept (ARA) in that order with $\boldsymbol{x}^* = \boldsymbol{x} + r_1 \mathbf{g}$, $\boldsymbol{x}^{**} = \boldsymbol{x} + r_2 \mathbf{g}$, $0 < r_1 < r_2$, we must show this leads to a contradiction.

We will consider every possible way that the three stages of ψ_1 might yield an ARA sequence for the points x, x^* and x^{**} as defined before. Note that MRD is admissible so that the sequence ARA is impossible at stage 1. The other 7 possible(first stage) test results for MRD are AAA, AAR, RAA, ARR, RAR, RRA and RRR. Recall that screening(stage 2) can, potentially, reverse any stage 1 decision. However, the sign stage (stage 3) is applicable only when the stage 1 action was to Reject and no change was made at stage 2. As an example of the reasoning used to identify the possible paths suppose stage 1 results in the sequence AAR. By definition stage 3 cannot impact the first two actions. Thus the only two paths possible, begining with AAR, are AAR \rightarrow ARA and AAR \rightarrow ARA \rightarrow ARA. Following these rules we find that there are 18 paths (listed in table 3.3.1) that must be studied. We will show that each of these paths leads to contradiction.

Note that the fourth row in each cell of table 3.3.1 indicates how $|X_i|$ relates to the screen stage. This will help in showing that each of the 18 cases cannot happen.

At this point we note a fact.

F1: Consider $\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{x}^* = \boldsymbol{x} + r_1 \mathbf{g}, \boldsymbol{x}^{**} = \boldsymbol{x} + r_2 \mathbf{g}$, with $0 < r_1 < r_2$. Then $|x_1^*| \le \max(|x_1|, |x_1^{**}|)$.

Now for the 18 cases listed in table 3.3.1. Cases 1, 2, 7, 9 and 15 violate F1 as seen from the fourth row of the cells in table 3.3.1.

Case 3: From table 3.3.1 we see that a sign change occurred at x^{**} when both $\mathbf{x_1}^{**}$ and $U_{m^*1}(x^{**})$ were positive. This contradicts the sign stage rule.

Case 4: Cannot occur since MRD is admissible.

Case 5: From table 3.3.1 we see that at \boldsymbol{x}^{**} the screen stage took a reject to an accept implying $|x_1^{**}| < C_L$. But $|x_1^{*}| > C_L$ implying $x_1^{*} < 0$. But MRD is ARR implying $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}^{*}) > 0$. Hence MRDSS being ARA is contradicted at \boldsymbol{x}^{*} .

Case 6: From the first row in this cell we see that $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}^{**}) > 0$ From the sign change at \boldsymbol{x}^{**} , we find $x_1^{**} < 0$ which implies $x_1^* < 0$. But this violates the sign rule.

Case 8: From the fourth row we find $x_1^* < 0$ which implies $x_1 < 0$. Since MRD is RAA, $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}) < 0$. However from row 3 we have a sign change, implying a contradiction.

Case 10: Again both $U_{m^*1}(\mathbf{x}) < 0$ and $x_1 < 0$ contradicting a sign change.

Case 11: Both x_1^{**} and $U_{m^*1}(\mathbf{x}^{**})$ are positive, contradicting a sign change.

Case 12: Same reasoning as Case 11.

Case 13: From the fourth row $x_1^* > 0$ and between C_U and C_L . From the first row

 $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}) < 0$. This contradicts row 3 at \boldsymbol{x}^* .

Case 14: From the first row $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}^*) < 0$, $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}) < 0$. Since there is a sign change at x_1 that implies $x_1 > 0$, $x_1^* > 0$, and $x_1^{**} > 0$. From row 2, $x_1^{**} < C_U$. Hence $C_L < x_1 < C_U$ and also $C_L < x_1^* < C_U$. In particular $x_1^* > 0$. This contradicts the sign change rule at \boldsymbol{x}^* .

Case 16: Note that a sign action took place at \boldsymbol{x} and at \boldsymbol{x}^{**} . Applying F1, we have $C_L < |x_1^*| < C_U$. Now if $x_1 < 0$ that implies $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}) > 0$ which in turn implies $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}^*) > 0$ and $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}^{**}) > 0$. Since there is a sign change at \boldsymbol{x}^{**} then we have $x_1^{**} < 0$ which means $x_1^* < 0$ and a sign change should have occurred at \boldsymbol{x}^* . This is a contradiction. Now if $x_1 > 0$, similar reasoning leads to a contradiction at \boldsymbol{x}^* .

Case 17: From the first two rows we conclude $C_L < |x_1^*|$ and $|x_1^{**}| < C_L$ implying $x_1^* < 0$ and therefore $x_1 < 0$. The sign stage at \boldsymbol{x} implies $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}) > 0$ and therefore $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}^*) > 0$. But $|x_1| < C_U$ and $|x_1^{**}| < C_L$ implies $|x_1^*| < C_U$. Hence we have $C_L < |x_1^*| < C_U$ and $x_1^* < 0$ and $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}^*) > 0$. This contradicts the sign stage at \boldsymbol{x}^* .

Case 18: From the first two rows we have $|x_1| < C_L$ and $|x_1^*| > C_L$ so $x_1^* > 0$ implying $x_1^{**} > 0$. Since there is a sign action at \boldsymbol{x}^{**} , $|x_1^{**}| < C_U$ and $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}^{**}) < 0$ implying $U_{m^*1}(\boldsymbol{x}^*) < 0$. Hence $x_1^* > 0$, $x_1^{**} > 0$, $C_L < x_1^* < x_1^{**} < C_U$, implies there should have been a sign action at \boldsymbol{x}^* . This is a contradiction.

Suppose in MRDSS that the MRD portion is replaced by another admissible MTP. Then the other admissible MTP supplemented by a screen and sign stage will retain the admissibility property. This means that Theorem 3.3.2 can be applied to a large class of MTPs. In fact we have corollary 3.3.3 below.

Let Σ be positive definite and let \mathbf{g}_i be the *i*-th column of Σ . Then define the class of MTPs with:

 $PROPERTY\ N$: Suppose $\Psi(\mathbf{X})$ is an MTP with individual test functions $\Psi_i(\mathbf{X})$. Suppose $\Psi_i(\mathbf{X})$, for every i, is such that the acceptance section along the line $\mathbf{x} + r\mathbf{g}_i$ is an interval. Then the MTP is said to has $Property\ N$. It is noted in the Appendix that $Property\ N$ is necessary and sufficient for an MTP to be admissible.

Corollary 3.3.3. Any MTP with Property N, supplemented by a screen stage and sign stage is admissible.

Proof. In the proof for Theorem 3.3.2 the value of U_{m*1} was never used. That is, only the sign of U_{m*1} was used. Therefore if we take an admissible procedure with *Property N* and use the definition of sign given after the corollary, the entire proof can be replicated.

The more general version of MRDSS involves functions $W_{mj}(\mathbf{X})$ analogous to U_{mj} and statistics $T_j(\mathbf{X})$ analogous to $|X_j|$. The $W_{mj}(\mathbf{X})$ have the properties of $U_{mj}(\mathbf{X})$ for suitably defined \mathbf{g}_j , $j=1,\ldots,M$, required for admissibility. The W_{mj} 's and T_j 's are used as follows:

For the MRD stage we must first decide which of the M hypotheses is eligible for rejection at the first step. Toward this end we associate each W_{1j} , j = 1, ..., M with its corresponding two sided P-value, say $P(W_{1j})$. $P(W_{1j})$ represents the probability, under the global null hypothesis that all $\theta_j = 0$, of observing W_{1j} or something more extreme than W_{1j} . Then the hypothesis eligible to be rejected first is the hypothesis related to $\min_{1 \le j \le M} P(W_{1j})$ or $\max_{1 \le j \le M} (1 - P(W_{1j}))$. Similarly define $P(W_{mj})$ and assume that $1 - P(W_{mj})$ is decreasing and then increasing as are the W_{mj} so that MRD will be admissible.

At step m, the hypothesis eligible to be rejected corresponds to the min of those M - (m-1) remaining P-values computed under the global null of M - (m-1) parameters equaling 0. Now let j^* be the index for which W_{mj} has the minimum P-value.

To decide whether MRD rejects H_{j^*} at a given step consider two sets of constants:

$$C_{1a} < C_{2a} < \cdots < C_{Ma} < 0$$
, and, $C_{1b} > C_{2b} > \cdots > C_{Mb} > 0$

with $C_{ja} < C_{jb}$, j = 1, ..., M. Proceed stepwise as in MRD except that at step m, reject H_{j^*} if $W_{mj^*} < C_{ja}$ or $W_{mj^*} > C_{jb}$. For the screening stage, let $C_{Ua} < C_{La} \le C_{Lb} < C_{Ub}$. Then if MRD accepted H_j , switch to reject if $T_j < C_{Ua}$ or $T_j > C_{Ub}$. If MRD rejected H_j , switch to accept if $C_{La} < T_j < C_{Lb}$, otherwise make no change. Finally for the sign stage, suppose H_j is rejected at step m^* , switch the reject to a final accept if either

- (i) $W_{m^*j} > C_{m^*b}$, there was no change at the screen stage, and $T_j < C_{La}$ or
- (ii) $W_{m^*j} < C_{m^*a}$, there was no change at the screen stage, and $T_j > C_{Lb}$.

In CCS(2009) MRDSS is determined where W_{mj} and T_j are Fisher exact test statistics for $2 \times C$ tables and W_{mj} and T_j are related to Pearson Chi-square statistics for $R \times C$ tables.

3.3.2 Consistency of MRDSS

Suppose in general we have a random sample \mathbf{X}_{α} , $\alpha = 1, ..., n$, where the distribution of \mathbf{X}_{α} depends on $\boldsymbol{\nu}$ and we wish to test $H_i : \nu_i = 0$ vs $K_i : \nu_i \neq 0$, i = 1, ..., M. Assume test statistics $(T_{ni}(\boldsymbol{x}) - ET_{ni}(\boldsymbol{x}))/\sigma_{T_{ni}}$ converges in law to a standard normal where $ET_{ni}(\boldsymbol{x})/\sigma_{T_{ni}} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ under H_i and $ET_{ni}(\boldsymbol{x})/\sigma_{T_{ni}} = O(\sqrt{n})$ under K_i . Also assume C_L and C_U tend to ∞ in such a way that $C_L = o(\sqrt{n})$ and $C_U = o(\sqrt{n})$. Then we have

Theorem 3.3.4. Under the above assumptions $\Phi_{MRDSS}(x)$ is consistent.

From the proof, it should be clear that the screen stage ensures the consistency of MRDSS.

3.3.3 Connection between MRD/MRDSS and forward selection

For this section we assume the general linear model described in Section 2 with σ^2 known. We test $H_i: \beta_i = 0$ vs $K_i: \beta_i \neq 0, i = 1, ..., M$. Let $C_1 > C_2 > \cdots > C_M > 0$ be a given set of constants.

Recall $A = (\mathbf{a}_1, ..., \mathbf{a}_n)$ and let A be partitioned as (A_1, A_2) where A_1 is $n \times (m-1)$ and A_2 is $n \times (M-m+1)$. Let V = R(A) be the linear space spanned by the columns of A and $V_1 = R(A_1)$ be the linear space spanned by the columns of A_1 . Furthermore, let P_V be the projection matrix for space V and let P_1 be the projection matrix for space V_1 . Let $V_2 = V \cap V_1^{\perp} = R(A_{2\cdot 1})$, where $A_{2\cdot 1} = A_2 - P_1 A_2 = (\mathbf{a}_{2\cdot 1m}, ..., \mathbf{a}_{2\cdot 1M})$. Finally let P_2 denote the projection matrix for V_2 so that $P_V = P_1 + P_2$.

Forward selection methods are studied in Miller (2002) and many other texts studying linear regression. They are methods that select fixed variables to enter a linear regression model in steps. In the first step one considers the random variables $(\mathbf{a}_i'\mathbf{y})/\sigma \|\mathbf{a}_i\|$, i=1,...,M. The forward method selects the fixed variable \mathbf{a}_{i_1} provided that

$$U_{1i_1} = \max_{1 \le i \le M} (|\mathbf{a}_i' \mathbf{y}| / \sigma \|\mathbf{a}_i\|) > C_1.$$
 (3.3.1)

If $U_{1i_1} \leq C_1$, no variables are chosen and the procedure stops. Now assume (m-1) variables have been selected. Without loss of generality say they are $(\mathbf{a}_1, ..., \mathbf{a}_{m-1}) = A_1$. Then at stage m, the method selects \mathbf{a}_{i_m} provided

$$U_{mi_m} = \max_{m \le j \le M} (|\mathbf{a}'_{2 \cdot 1j} \mathbf{y}| / \sigma \|\mathbf{a}_{2 \cdot 1j}\|) > C_m.$$
 (3.3.2)

If $U_{mi_m} \leq C_m$, the procedure stops. Thus at step m, the forward method is tantamount to rejecting $H_{i_m}: \beta_{i_m} = 0$ by virtue of (3.3.2).

Note that the vector of components $\mathbf{a}'_{2\cdot 1j}\mathbf{y}$ in (3.3.2) can be written as $A'_{2\cdot 1}\mathbf{y}$.

Now recall MRD applied to $\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}} \sim N(\boldsymbol{\beta}, \sigma^2 S^{-1})$. At step one the numerator of the residual is proportional to $S\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}} = A'\mathbf{y}$, which is the vector of components in the expression in the numerator in (3.3.1). At step m, assuming $H_i: \beta_i = 0, i = 1, ..., m-1$ have been rejected, MRD deletes the first m-1 rows and first m-1 columns of S^{-1} and considers $\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_2 \sim N(\boldsymbol{\beta}_2, \Lambda_{22})$ where $\boldsymbol{\beta}_2 = (\beta_m, ..., \beta_M)'$ and $S^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_{11} & \Lambda_{12} \\ \Lambda_{21} & \Lambda_{22} \end{pmatrix}$, with Λ_{11} $(m-1) \times (m-1)$ and Λ_{22} $(M-m+1) \times (M-m+1)$. The residuals \mathbf{U}_m at this step are proportional to $\Lambda_{22}^{-1}\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_2$. That is,

$$\mathbf{U}_m \propto \Lambda_{22}^{-1} \hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_2. \tag{3.3.3}$$

However, note

$$A_1\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_1 + A_2\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_2 = A\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}} = P_V \mathbf{y}. \tag{3.3.4}$$

Multiply both sides of (5.4) by P_2 to get

$$A_{2\cdot 1}\hat{\beta}_2 = P_2 P_V \mathbf{y} = P_2 \mathbf{y} \,. \tag{3.3.5}$$

Since $\Lambda_{22}^{-1} = A_2' A_2 - A_2' P_1 A_2 = A_{2 \cdot 1}' A_{2 \cdot 1}$, we find using (3.3.3) and (3.3.5) that

$$\mathbf{U}_m \propto A'_{2\cdot 1} P_2 \mathbf{y} = A'_{2\cdot 1} \mathbf{y} \,. \tag{3.3.6}$$

Note that the components of (3.3.6) are $(\mathbf{a}'_{2\cdot 1}\mathbf{y})$, the unnormalized terms in the expression (3.3.2). Thus we have proved

Theorem 3.3.5. For the assumption of the general linear regression model, the forward selection method is equivalent to MRD.

REMARK: Whereas the forward method and MRD are oftentimes not consistent procedures, MRDSS and thus the forward method plus screening, plus sign is consistent. It is interesting to note that Christensen (1987) p.288, claims that the precise screening step we recommend is an improvement on the forward method.

The backward method starts by assuming a linear regression model with M parameters. At step 1, one can decide that $\beta_{i_1} = 0$ if $T_{i_1} = \min_{1 \leq i \leq M} T_i(\hat{\beta}) = \min_{1 \leq i \leq M} (|\hat{\beta}_i|/\sigma_{\hat{\beta}_i}) \leq C_m$. Otherwise the procedure stops and no variables are eliminated.

At stage m, assuming without loss of generality that variables $\mathbf{a}_1, ..., \mathbf{a}_{m-1}$ have been eliminated, one considers residuals of the form

$$(\hat{\beta}_j - \lambda_j^{(1,\dots,m-1)} \Lambda_{11(m-1)}^{-1} (\hat{\beta}_1, \dots, \hat{\beta}_{m-1})') / \lambda_{j\cdot(1,\dots,m-1)}^{1/2}.$$
(3.3.7)

where $\lambda_j^{(1,...,m-1)}$ are the elements in the j^{th} row of S^{-1} that represent the covariance of $\hat{\beta}_j$ and $(\hat{\beta}_1,...,\hat{\beta}_{m-1})'$; $\Lambda_{11(m-1)}^{-1}$ represents the covariance matrix of $(\hat{\beta}_1,...,\hat{\beta}_{m-1})'$ and $\lambda_{j\cdot(1,...,m-1)}$ is the conditional variance of $\hat{\beta}_j$ given $\hat{\beta}_1,...,\hat{\beta}_{m-1}$.

If $\min_{m \leq j \leq M}$ of the terms in $(3.3.7) \leq C_{M-m+1}$, and the index is i_m then decide $\beta_{i_m} = 0$ and continue. Otherwise stop.

REMARK: The backward method is consistent under mild conditions (see An and Gu, 1985). Nevertheless the backward method is akin in some sense to the step-up method of multiple testing. They are identical at the first step. As previously mentioned step-up methods are often inadmissible in normal and exponential family models and it can be shown that the backward method would sometimes be inadmissible for a risk function whose components are expected number of type I errors and expected number of type II errors.

3.4 Discussion

The MRD procedure is admissible and takes correlation into consider in every stage. However, it is not consistent. MRDSS retains the two favorable properties and, in addition, it is consistent due to the screen stage. In MRDSS, the screen stage is after the MRD stage. If we put the screen stage as the first stage, followed by MRD stage and sign stage, we get a new procedure. It will work as follows:

- (1) screen stage: compare individual test statistics to C_L and C_U . Accept those hypotheses whose test statistics are less than C_L , and reject those hypotheses whose test statistics are greater than C_U . Let I_0 denote the index of hypotheses that are accepted, and I_1 the index of the hypotheses that are rejected.
- (2) For those hypotheses with test statistics falling between C_L and C_U , i.e, for all H_i , where $i \notin I_0 \cup I_1$, play MRD, under the condition that $H_j : j \in I_0$ are true and $H'_j : j' \in I_1$ are not true.
 - (3) Play sign stage as before.

Call this procedure as screen+MRD+sign. The difference between this MTP and MRDSS lies in the order of MRD stage and screen stage. However, this difference makes it hard to tell whether it is admissible or not.

Table 3.3.1: Possible paths leading to ARA of MRDSS

$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c }\hline MRD & A & A & A & A & A & R & A & A & R \\ MRD+Sc & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & R \\ MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & R \\ \hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\ \hline X_1 & < C_U > C_U < C_U < C_U < C_U > C_U < C_U < C_U < C_U < C_U > C_U < C_U < C_U \\ \hline & case 4 & case 5 & case 6 \\ \hline \hline MRD & A & R & A & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ MRD+Sc & Cannot occur & A & R & A & A & R & R \\ MRDSS & & & A & R & A & A & R & R \\ \hline X_1 & & & & < C_U > C_L < C_U < C_U > C_L > C_L \\ \hline & case 7 & case 8 & case 9 \\ \hline \hline MRD & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\ MRD+Sc & A & R & A & R & A & A & R & A \\ MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\ MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\ MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\ \hline X_1 & < C_L > C_U < C_U > C_L > C_U < C_U < C_L > C_U < C_L \\ \hline & case 10 & case 11 & case 12 \\ \hline MRD & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & A & R \\ MRD+Sc & R & R & A & R & R & R & A & R & R \\ MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & R & A & R & R \\ MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & R & A & R & R \\ MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & R & R & A & R & R$		Table 5.5.1: Possible paths leading to ARA of MRD55								
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					case 2		case 3			
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	MRD	A	A	A	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	MRD+Sc	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	\mathbf{R}
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c }\hline & case 4 & case 5 & case 6 \\\hline\hline MRD & A & R & A & A & R & R & A & R & R \\\hline\hline MRD+Sc & Cannot occur & A & R & A & A & R & R \\\hline\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & R & A \\\hline\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline\hline MRD & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline\hline MRD & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A & R \\\hline\hline MRD+Sc & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline\hline MRD & R & A & R & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline\hline MRD & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline\hline MRD & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & A & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & A & R \\\hline\hline MRD+Sc & R & R & A & R & R & R & A & R & R \\\hline\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRD & C & C & C & C & C & C & C & C & C & $	MRDSS	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c }\hline MRD & A & R & A & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ MRD+Sc & Cannot occur & A & R & A & A & R & R \\ MRDSS & & & A & R & A & A & R & R \\ MRDSS & & & & & & & & & & & \\ \hline & & & & & & &$	$ X_1 $	$< C_U$	$> C_U$	$< C_U$	$ < C_U$	$> C_U$	$< C_L$	$< C_U$	$> C_U$	$> C_L$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	MRD	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A		\mathbf{R}	A		
$ X_1 $		Cannot occur		cur			A			\mathbf{R}
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c }\hline & case 7 & case 8 & case 9 \\\hline\hline MRD & R & A & A & R & A & R & A & R \\\hline MRD+Sc & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_U < C_U > C_L > C_U < C_U < C_L > C_U < C_L > C_U < C_L \\\hline & case 10 & case 11 & case 12 \\\hline\hline MRD & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & A & R \\\hline MRD+Sc & R & R & A & R & R & R & A & R & R \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & R & A & R & R \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline X_1 & > C_L > C_U < C_L > C_L > C_U > C_U < C_L > C_U > C_U \\\hline & case 13 & case 14 & case 15 \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\\hline MRD+Sc & A & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\\hline MRD+Sc & A & R & A & R & A & R & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & R & A \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_U < C_L > C_L < C_U < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline < C_U & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline < C_U & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline < C_U & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline < C_U & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline < C_U & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline < C_U & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline < C_U & < C_L > C_L < C_L \\\hline \end{array}$					A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c }\hline \text{MRD} & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A & R \\ \hline \text{MRD+Sc} & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\ \hline \text{MRDSS} & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\ \hline X_1 & < C_L > C_U < C_U > C_L > C_U < C_U < C_L > C_U < C_L \\ \hline & case 10 & case 11 & case 12 \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & A & R \\ \hline \text{MRD+Sc} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \text{MRDSS} & A & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline X_1 & > C_L > C_U < C_L > C_L > C_U > C_L < C_L > C_U > C_U \\ \hline & case 13 & case 14 & case 15 \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD+Sc} & A & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\ \hline \hline \text{MRD} & R & R & A & R & A & R & R & A \\ \hline \hline \text{MRDSS} & A & R & A & R & A & R & A \\ \hline \hline \text{MRDSS} & A & R & A & R & A & R & A \\ \hline \ \hline \text{MRDSS} & A & R & A & R & A & R & A \\ \hline \ \hline \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$	$ X_1 $				$< C_U$		$< C_L$	$< C_U$		$> C_L$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			case 7			case 8			case 9	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	MRD	R	A	A	R	A	A	R	A	\mathbf{R}
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		A	\mathbf{R}	A	R					A
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c }\hline & case 10 & case 11 & case 12 \\\hline MRD & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & A & R \\\hline MRD+Sc & R & R & A & R & R & R & A & R & R \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline X_1 & > C_L > C_U < C_L > C_L > C_U > C_L > C_L > C_L > C_U > C_U \\\hline \hline & case 13 & case 14 & case 15 \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\\hline MRD+Sc & A & R & A & R & R & A & R & R \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_U > C_L > C_L < C_U < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_U < C_L < C_L < C_U < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_U < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_U < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_U < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_U \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_U < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L \\\hline X_1 & < C_L < $	MRDSS	A	\mathbf{R}	A	l	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ X_1 $	$< C_L$	$> C_U$	$< C_U$	$> C_L$	$> C_U$	$< C_U$	$< C_L$	$> C_U$	$< C_L$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			case 10			case 11		case 12		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	MRD	\mathbf{R}	A	\mathbf{R}	R	A	\mathbf{R}	${ m R}$	A	\mathbf{R}
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	MRD+Sc	\mathbf{R}	\mathbf{R}	A	R	\mathbf{R}	\mathbf{R}	A	\mathbf{R}	\mathbf{R}
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c }\hline & case 13 & case 14 & case 15 \\\hline\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\\hline MRD+Sc & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\\hline X_1 & < C_L & > C_L & < C_U & > C_L & < C_U & < C_L & > C_L & < C_L \\\hline < C_U & & & & & & \\\hline \end{array}$	MRDSS	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c }\hline MRD & R & R & A & R & R & A & R & R & R \\ MRD+Sc & A & R & A & R & R & A & A & R & A \\ MRDSS & A & R & A & A & R & A & A & R & A \\ X_1 & < C_L & > C_L & < C_U & > C_L & < C_U & < C_L & > C_L & < C_L \\ & < C_U & & \\ \hline \end{array}$	$ X_1 $	$> C_L$		$< C_L$	$> C_L$		$> C_L$	$< C_L$		$> C_U$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			case 13			${\rm case}\ 14$			${\rm case}\ 15$	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	MRD	R	R	A	R	R	A	R	R	R
$ X_1 \qquad < C_L > C_L < C_U > C_L > C_L < C_U < C_L > C_L < C_L $	MRD+Sc	A	\mathbf{R}	A	R	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A
$ < C_U$	MRDSS	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	A
	$ X_1 $	$< C_L$	$> C_L$	$< C_U$	$> C_L$	$> C_L$	$< C_U$	$< C_L$	$> C_L$	$< C_L$
case 16 case 17 case 18					$ < C_U$					
		case 16		case 17		case 18				
MRD R R R R R R R	MRD	R	R	R	R	R	R	R	R	R
MRD+Sc R R R R A A R R	MRD+Sc	R	\mathbf{R}	\mathbf{R}	R	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}	\mathbf{R}
MRDSS A R A A R A A R A	MRDSS	A	\mathbf{R}	A	A	\mathbf{R}			\mathbf{R}	A
$ X_1 $ $> C_L > C_L > C_L > C_L > C_L < C_L < C_L > C_L > C_L$	$ X_1 $	$> C_L$	$> C_L$	$> C_L$	$> C_L$	$> C_L$	$< C_L$	$< C_L$	$> C_L$	$> C_L$
		$< C_U$	$< C_U$	$< C_U$	$ < C_U $	$< C_U$	$< C_U$	$< C_U$	$< C_U$	$< C_U$

Chapter 4

MRDSS in ordered contingency table

In this Chapter we will extend the MRDSS procedure to the testing of local odds ratios in ordered contingency table. Consider an $R \times C$ contingency table with ordered categories in both rows and columns. Let X_{ij} be the frequency in the ijth cell, i = 1, ..., R, j = 1, ..., C. Assume either the full multinomial model or the product multinomial model with cell probabilities p_{ij} . In either case, if we condition on both the column totals t_j , j = 1, ..., C and the row totals R_i , i = 1, ..., R, the conditional distribution of X_{ij} , i = 1, ..., R - 1, j = 1, ..., C - 1 given R_i , t_j is multivariate hypergeometric. Let $n = \sum_{i=1}^{R} R_i = \sum_{j=1}^{C} t_j$.

The conditional distribution expressed in exponential family form is

$$f_{\mathbf{X}}(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{\nu}) \propto \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{R-1} \sum_{j=1}^{C-1} x_{ij} \nu_{ij}\right)$$
 (4.0.1)

where ν_{ij} are log odds ratios, i.e.,

$$\nu_{ij} = \log \frac{p_{ij}p_{RC}}{p_{iC}p_{Rj}}$$

with $\mathbf{x} = (\mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_R)'$, $\mathbf{x}_i = (x_{i1}, \dots, x_{iC})'$, $\mathbf{\nu} = (\mathbf{\nu}_1, \dots, \mathbf{\nu}_R)'$. See CS (2000). If we let

$$S_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{i} \sum_{l=1}^{j} X_{kl}$$

and let

$$\mu_{ij} = \log \frac{p_{ij}p_{(i+1)(j+1)}}{p_{i(j+1)}p_{(i+1)j}}$$

then with $\mathbf{S} = (S_{11}, \dots, S_{RC})'$

$$f_{\mathbf{S}}(\mathbf{s}|\boldsymbol{\mu}) \propto \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{R-1} \sum_{j=1}^{C-1} \mu_{ij} S_{ij}\right).$$
 (4.0.2)

Note (4.0.2) would also ensue for the model in which X_{ij} are independent Poisson variables with parameter λ_{ij} . Then upon conditioning on R_i , X_i is multinomial with parameter $p_{ij} = \lambda_{ij} / \sum_{j=1}^{C} \lambda_{ij}$. Conditioning next on t_j yields the multivariate hypergeometric of (4.0.1).

4.1 Testing of local odds ratios in contingency table

We are interested in testing of local odds ratios for the $R \times C$ table, i.e., hypotheses of

$$H_{ij}: \mu_{ij} = 0 \quad \text{vs} \quad K_{ij}: \mu_{ij} \neq 0$$
 (4.1.1)

or,

$$H_{ij}: \mu_{ij} = 0 \quad \text{vs} \quad K_{ij}^*: \mu_{ij} > 0$$
 (4.1.2)

A local 2×2 table of frequencies is

and let T_{ij} be a statistic to test H_{ij} . Typical step-down and step-up procedures are based on statistics T_{ij} that depend only on the cell frequencies in (4.1.3). Such statistics are often Fisher's exact test statistics or Pearson's chi-square statistics.

Step-down or step-up procedures for the above contingency table are straight forward. However, as mentioned before, step-down or step-up methods are oftentimes inadmissible for vector risk function. For examples in $2 \times C$, see Chen, Cohen, and Sackrowitz (2009b).

4.2 $2 \times C$ tables

Our starting point is to assume the model where upon conditioning on row and column totals we have the multivariate hypergeometric distribution given in (4.0.2). We start with a result for $R \times C$ tables.

Lemma 4.2.1. A necessary and sufficient condition for a test $\psi_{ij}(\mathbf{x})$ to be admissible is that for all $S_{i'j'}(i' \neq i, j' \neq j)$, except S_{ij} , fixed, the acceptance sections of the test are convex in S_{ij} .

Proof. See Matthes and Truax (1967)
$$\Box$$

Note that convex in the discrete case is defined for sample points whose coordinates take on integer values. A discrete set B is convex if whenever $\mathbf{s}_1 \in B$, $\mathbf{s}_2 \in B$, all sample points between \mathbf{s}_1 and \mathbf{s}_2 are in B. Note that when R=2, S depends only on $S_{11}, \ldots, S_{1(C-1)}$ and these depend only on $X_{11}, \ldots, X_{1(C-1)}$.

Furthermore when R=2 an increase in S_{1j} by one unit while $S_{1j'}$ remain fixed $j' \neq j$ is accomplished with $(X_{11}, \ldots, X_{1j}, X_{1(j+1)}, \ldots, X_{1(C-1)})' + \boldsymbol{g}$ where $\boldsymbol{g} = (0, \ldots, 1, -1, \ldots, 0)'$ where 1 is in position j.

Whereas one cannot demonstrate that step-down and step-up procedures based on Fisher exact tests or Pearson chi-square tests are always inadmissible, we give examples (which are more typical than not) to indicate that those procedures often are inadmissible. It sufficies to work with 2×3 tables since extensions to $R \times C$ tables would easily follow.

Example 4.2.1 : Consider a 2×3 table as follows

		109
		100

Test $H_{1j}: \mu_{1j} = 0$ vs $K_{1j}: \mu_{1j} \neq 0$, j = 1, 2. For step-down using Fisher's P-value (with FWER controlled at $\alpha = 0.1$). The critical values are $\alpha_1 = 0.05$, $\alpha_2 = 0.1$. Now suppose the frequencies are :

Then the P-values are 0.093, 0.041 which leads to rejecting both H_{11} and H_{12} . However for frequencies

the P-values are 0.061, 0.063 which means both hypotheses are accepted. For a first row of 55 35 19, H_{11} would be accepted which demonstrates that the acceptance section for H_{11} would not be an interval in S_{11} :

S_{11}	55	59	60
Decision	A	R	A

For the two-sided case using the same critical values of α , using Pearson's chisquared statistic the following tables of frequencies also provide an example where the acceptance section is not an interval.

65	51	38	
39	49	66	P-values are 0.0973, 0.0373
66	50	38	
38	50	66	P-values are 0.0523, 0.0523

Similarly, using the same critical value, for one-sided Fisher, $\alpha = .1$

65 52 26

40 48 44 P-values are 0.0983, 0.0392

66 51 26

39 49 44 P-values are 0.0577, 0.0513

4.2.1 New methodology

We start with the case R=2 and we observe S with distribution given in (4.0.2).

The methods offered are related to the MRDSS method of CCS(2009a) which extends the MRD method of CSX(2009). The method, referred to as MRDSS, involves using Fisher's test statistics (or Pearson's Chi-square statistics) for various sometimes collapsed tables that wind up as 2×2 tables. We give the method using Fisher's statistics P_{1j} although Pearson's Chi-square statistics could also be used.

Recall there are (C-1) local log odds ratios to be tested; namely $H_{1j}: \mu_{1j} = 0$ vs $K_{1j}: \mu_{1j} \neq 0, j = 1, ..., C-1$. The main method involves 3 stages. Stage 1 involves a step-down testing method; stage 2 involves screening and stage 3 involves a possible change due to sign differences. The method is as follows: Let $0 < \alpha_1 < \cdots < \alpha_{C-1}$.

At stage 1,

(i) consider the (C-1) 2 × 2 tables

$$\begin{array}{|c|c|c|c|c|}
\hline
S_{1j} & R_1 - S_{1j} \\
\hline
\sum_{k=1}^{j} t_k - S_{1j} & R_2 - \sum_{k=1}^{j} t_k + S_{1j}
\hline
\end{array} (4.2.1)$$

Compute $P_{1j}^{(1)}$ for Table j, j = 1, ..., C-1 and find $P_{(1)}^{(1)}$, the smallest among $P_{1j}^{(1)}$. If $P_{(1)}^{(1)} = P_{1j_1}^{(1)} < \alpha_1$, reject $H_{(1)}$ and continue. Otherwise stop and accept H_{1j} , j = 1, ..., C-1.

(ii) If $j_1=1$ consider the $2\times (C-2)$ table with column 1 left out. Proceed as in

step (i) . That is, form (C-2) 2×2 tables

$$\begin{array}{|c|c|c|c|}
\hline
S_{1j} - S_{11} & R_1 - S_{1j} \\
\hline
\sum_{k=2}^{j} t_k - S_{1j} + S_{11} & R_2 - \sum_{k=1}^{j} t_k + S_{1j}
\end{array} (4.2.2)$$

Compute $P_{1j}^{(2)}$, $j=2,\ldots,C-1$ and find $P_{1j_2}^{(2)}=\min_{2\leq j\leq C-1}P_{1j}^{(2)}$. If $P_{1j_2}^{(2)}<\alpha_2$, reject H_{1j_2} and continue. Otherwise stop and accept $H_{(2)},\ldots,H_{(C-1)}$. If $1< j_1 < C-1$, segment the $2\times C$ table into 2 tables. The first table is the $2\times j_1$ table consisting of the first j_1 columns of the original table and the second table is $2\times (C-j_1)$ consisting the last $(C-j_1)$ columns of the table. Now treat each table as in the $2\times C$ table case and form 2×2 tables as in the step (i). That is, form (j_1-1) P-values for the $2\times j_1$ table and $C-j_1-1$ P-values for the $2\times (C-j_1)$ table and then get $P_{1j_2}^{(2)}$ as the minimum P-value and reject H_{1j_2} if $P_{1j_2}^{(2)}<\alpha_2$ and continue. Otherwise stop and accept $H_{(2)},\ldots,H_{(C-1)}$.

If $j_1 = C - 1$ then do essentially what was done when $j_1 = 1$.

(iii) If the process continues beyond step (ii), then continue for each table at step (ii) by further segmentation if necessary at all future steps. Compute P-values as in previous stages and get the min P-value and compare it with the appropriate critical value, i.e., at step m, if $P_{1j_m}^{(m)} < \alpha_m$, reject H_{1j_m} and continue. Otherwise stop and accept $H_{(m)}, \ldots, H_{(C-1)}$.

At stage 2, screen the results of stage 1, as follows: Let $\alpha_L < \alpha_U$ be two critical values between 0 and 1. Typically $\alpha_L < \alpha_{C-1} \le \alpha_U$. Find Fisher's statistic for each local 2×2 table. If the Fisher statistic is less than α_L and at stage 1 the test accepted, switch to rejection. If the statistic exceeds α_U and at stage 1 the test rejected, switch to accept. Otherwise maintain the results of stage 1.

At stage 3, switch a reject at stage 1 to a final accept at stage 3, if when screening, the statistic lies between α_L and α_U and if the Fisher statistic used in stages 1 and 2 were compiled using opposite sides of their respective 2 sided rejection regions. For example, suppose we are testing $H_{11}: \mu_{11} = 0$ vs $K_{11}: \mu_{11} \neq 0$. Suppose that at stage

1, step 1 the table

yielded the minimum P-value $< \alpha_1$ and thus H_{11} was rejected at stage 1. Note that (1 - P-value) based on Fisher's statistic for this table as a function of S_{11} is decreasing and then increasing. See Cohen (1987). Suppose further that the observed value of S_{11} was on the increasing part of the function. Now for the table

$$\begin{array}{|c|c|c|c|c|} \hline x_{11} & x_{12} \\ \hline x_{21} & x_{22} \\ \hline \end{array}$$

assume the Fisher test statistic P-value was between α_L and α_U . Further suppose for the observed value of x_{11} that (1 - P-value) as a function of x_{11} was on the decreasing part of the function. This would call for a switch of reject H_{11} to accept H_{11} .

4.2.2 Example

We now illustrate the method with examples. The data to be used in the examples in this section and in section 5 refers to a sample of British males cross-classified by father's occupational status and son's occupational status. The data are drawn from Glass (1954). The occupations are ordered, in a sense, from highest (1), representing professional, administrative, executive to lowest (6), representing unskilled manual worker. These data have been analyzed by Goodman, Andersen, Benzecri, Baccini, Caussinus, De Falguerolles, Clogg, Rao, Cox, and Haberman (1991), Dardanoni and Forcina (1998) and Silvapulle and Sen (2005). Table 4.2.1 provides the data. Note $A_i, i = 1, \ldots, 6$ stands for father's occupational status while o_j stands for son's occupational status.

	o_1	o_2	o_3	o_4	o_5	o_6
$\overline{A_1}$	125	60	26	49	14	5
A_2	47	65	66	123	23	21
A_3	31	58	110	223	64	32
A_4	50	114	185	715	258	189
A_5	6	19	40	179	143	71
A_6	3	14	32	141	91	106

Table 4.2.1: Father and Son Occupation Status in British Males

We first extract row one and two to form a 2×6 table to illustrate our method as follows:

Stage 1 - step (i): Form 2×2 tables where the entries in the first row, first column of each table is $S_{11}, S_{12}, S_{13}, S_{14}, S_{15}$ respectively. These five tables and their corresponding P-values based on Fisher statistic are:

	125	154	185	94	211	68	260	19	274	5
	47	298	112	233	178	167	301	44	324	21
P-values	4.91	$\times 10^{-18}$	2.80 >	× 10 ⁻¹⁷	6.29 >	× 10 ⁻¹⁰	0.01	59	0.00	——)81

The minimum P-value among the 5 tables occurs for the first table. Using critical values (0.01, 0.0125, 0.0167, 0.025, 0.05) we reject $H_{11}: \mu_{11} = 0$ and continue.

Step (ii): Consider the 2×5 table formed by leaving out the first column of the 2×6 table. Form four new 2×2 tables whose first row-first column entries are $S_{12} - S_{11}, S_{13} - S_{11}, S_{14} - S_{11}, S_{15} - S_{11}$ respectively. These four tables and their corresponding P-values are:

	60	94	86	68	135	19	149	5
	65	233	131	167	254	44	277	21
P-values	.0	002	.01	174	.56	70	.13	49

The minimum P-value .002 < .0125 so $H_{12}: \mu_{12} = 0$ is rejected and continue.

Step (iii): Form the 2×4 table with the first two columns of the original table left out. The entries are $S_{13} - S_{12}$, $S_{14} - S_{12}$, $S_{15} - S_{12}$ respectively. These tables and their corresponding P-values are :

	24	68	75	19	84	5
	66	167	189	44	212	21
P-values		1	.7	594	.36	68

The minimum P-value .3668 > .0167 so that $H_{13}: \mu_{13}=0, H_{14}: \mu_{14}=0$ and $H_{15}: \mu_{15}=0$ are all accepted.

Stage 2 (screening) and stage 3 (sign): Choose $\alpha_L = 0.01$ and $\alpha_U = 0.05$ and screen the P-values of each of the 5 local 2 × 2 tables. That is, the five tables are:

125	60	60	26	26	49	49	14	14	5
47	65	65	66	66	123	123	23	23	21

The corresponding P-values by Fisher's exact test are .0001, .0048, 1, .3232 and .1643. The screening stage then does not change any decision made in stage 1. Furthermore it is easy to check that the sign stage also makes no change.

4.3 $R \times C$ tables

In a $2 \times C$ table, at MRD stage, after we reject H_i , we split the table into 2 small tables and do testing. This essential is to do testing conditional on S_{1i} as fixed. Now in a $R \times C$ table, we can do essentially the same thing. We will first give the method and then illustrate it with an example.

4.3.1 New methodology

Recall that in an $R \times C$ table we wish to test (R-1)(C-1) individual hypotheses H_{ij} : $\mu_{ij} = 0$ vs K_{ij} : $\mu_{ij} \neq 0$, i = 1, ..., R-1; j = 1, ..., C-1. Let $\Omega_1 > \Omega_2 > \cdots > \Omega_{(R-1)(C-1)} > 0$ be a set of critical values. We will do as follows at stage 1, MRD stage:

Step 1 : Form (R-1)(C-1) 2 × 2 tables :

Find the statistics:

$$U_{ij}^{(1)} = (S_{ij} - \hat{E}_{ij}^{(1)}) / \sqrt{\hat{V}_{ij}^{(1)}}$$
(4.3.1)

where $\hat{E}_{ij}^{(1)}$ and $\hat{V}_{ij}^{(1)}$, along with $\hat{E}_{ij}^{(m)}$ and $\hat{V}_{ij}^{(m)}$ for step $m, m = 1, 2, \ldots$, (R-1)(C-1) will be determined below. $U_{ij}^{(1)}$ will be used to test hypothesis H_{ij} . If $|U_{i_1j_1}^{(1)}| = \max_{(i,j)} |U_{ij}^{(1)}| > \Omega_1$, reject $H_{i_1j_1}$, record the sign of $U_{i_1j_1}^{(1)}$ and continue. Note that $\left(U_{ij}^{(1)}\right)^2$ is equivalent to Pearson's chi-square statistic for the above 2×2 table.

At step 2, find the statistics

$$U_{ij}^{(2)} = (S_{ij} - \hat{E}_{ij}^{(2)}) / \sqrt{\hat{V}_{ij}^{(2)}}$$
(4.3.2)

If $|U_{i_2j_2}^{(2)}| = \max_{(i,j)} |U_{ij}^{(2)}| > \Omega_2$, reject $H_{i_2j_2}$, record the sign of $U_{i_2j_2}^{(2)}$ and continue.

The quantities $\hat{E}_{ij}^{(1)}$, $\hat{V}_{ij}^{(1)}$ will be estimated under two conditions:

- (I) all null hypotheses are assumed true
- (II) Row sums, column sums are fixed

The quantities $\hat{E}_{ij}^{(2)}$, $\hat{V}_{ij}^{(2)}$ will be estimated under two conditions:

- (I) all null hypotheses except $H_{i_1j_1}$ are assumed true
- (II) Row sums, column sums, and $S_{i_1j_1}$ are fixed

In general, at step m, suppose $H_{i_1j_1}, \ldots, H_{i_{m-1}j_{m-1}}$ have been rejected. Then $\hat{E}_{ij}^{(m)}$ and $\hat{V}_{ij}^{(m)}$ will be estimated under two conditions:

- (I) all null hypotheses except $H_{i_1j_1}, \ldots, H_{i_{m-1}j_{m-1}}$ are assumed true
- (II) Row sums, column sums, and $S_{i_1j_1}, \ldots, S_{i_{m-1}j_{m-1}}$ are fixed

Now we indicate exactly how $\hat{E}_{ij}^{(m)}$ and $\hat{V}_{ij}^{(m)}$ are estimated.

At step 1 let λ_{ij} denote the mean of cell(i,j). Then estimate λ_{ij} by $\hat{\lambda}_{ij}$, where $\hat{\lambda}_{ij}$ is the solution to the following set of equations

$$\sum_{k,l} \lambda_{kl} = n \tag{4.3.3}$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{R} \lambda_{kj} = t_j \quad \text{for } j = 1, \dots, C - 1$$
 (4.3.4)

$$\sum_{k,l} \lambda_{kl} = n$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{R} \lambda_{kj} = t_{j} \quad \text{for } j = 1, \dots, C - 1$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{C} \lambda_{il} = R_{i} \quad \text{for } i = 1, \dots, R - 1$$

$$\lambda_{ij} \lambda_{(i+1)(j+1)} = \lambda_{(i+1)j} \lambda_{i(j+1)} \quad \text{for } 1 \le i \le R - 1, 1 \le j \le C - 1$$
(4.3.4)
$$\lambda_{ij} \lambda_{(i+1)(j+1)} = \lambda_{(i+1)j} \lambda_{i(j+1)} \quad \text{for } 1 \le i \le R - 1, 1 \le j \le C - 1$$
(4.3.6)

$$\lambda_{ij}\lambda_{(i+1)(j+1)} = \lambda_{(i+1)j}\lambda_{i(j+1)}$$
 for $1 \le i \le R - 1, 1 \le j \le C - 1$ (4.3.6)

There are a total of 1 + (C - 1) + (R - 1) + (R - 1)(C - 1) = RC equations in RCvariables. The unique non-negative solution is $\lambda_{ij} = R_i t_j/n$.

At step 2, suppose $H_{i_1j_1}$ is rejected by the end of step 1. Estimate the means of cells again by using the same $R \times C$ equations, except now replace the equation

$$\lambda_{i_1 j_1} \lambda_{(i_1+1)(j_1+1)} = \lambda_{(i_1+1)j_1} \lambda_{i_1(j_1+1)}$$
(4.3.7)

with equation

$$\sum_{k < i_1, l < j_1} \lambda_{kl} = S_{i_1 j_1} \tag{4.3.8}$$

In general at step m, we remove (m-1) equations of the type (4.3.6) and add (m-1) equations of the type (4.3.8).

To get the estimate $\hat{V}_{ij}^{(m)}$ we think of the cell frequencies x_{ij} as independent normal variables with mean λ_{ij} and variance λ_{ij} . Recall $S_{ij} = \sum_{l=1}^{i} \sum_{l=1}^{j} x_{ij}$, so S = AX for the appropriate A, It would follow that $S \sim N(A\lambda, A\Sigma A')$ with Σ being a diagonal matrix with diagonal elements equal $(\lambda_{11}, \ldots, \lambda_{RC})$. Note that Σ is covariance matrix of X. Having estimated λ_{ij} by $\hat{\lambda}_{ij}$ we thus have an estimator of $\Sigma_{\mathbf{S}} = A\Sigma A'$. However

to find $\hat{V}_{ij}^{(m)},$ we compute the conditional covariance matrix of ${m S}$ under conditions :

- (i) $S_{iC}, i = 1, \dots, R-1$ are known
- (ii) S_{Rj} , j = 1, ..., C are known
- (iii) $S_{i_1j_1}, ..., S_{i_{m-1}j_{m-1}}$ are known.

The quantity $V_{ij}^{(m)}$ represent the conditional variance of S_{ij} . $V_{ij}^{(m)}$ is a function of λ_{ij} and is estimated accordingly.

We conclude this section with:

Theorem 4.3.1. For an $R \times C$ contingency table, assuming either the product multinomial model, full multinomial model or independent Poisson model, the MRDSS method using Pearson's Chi-square statistic or Fisher's statistic in the $2 \times C$ case is admissible.

Proof. CCS(2009a) prove that if a procedure $\psi = (\psi_{11}, \dots, \psi_{(R-1)(C-1)})'$, consisting of (R-1)(C-1) individual test functions is admissible, then ψ followed by a screening stage and a sign stage is also admissible. Thus for MRDSS to be admissible it suffices to prove that MRD is admissible. In CSX(2009) MRD was shown to be admissible in a multivariate normal model where residuals were defined as functions of the coefficients of the parameters to be tested. For the $R \times C$ contingency table model the S_{ij} , $i = 1, \dots, R-1$; $j = 1, \dots, C-1$ are the coefficients of the parameters to be tested and suitably centered and normalized they have the identical properties as the residuals U_{mj} in CSX(2009). That is, suppose we are examing the admissibility of the individual test of $H_{ij}: \mu_{ij} = 0$ vs $K_{ij}: \mu_{ij} \neq 0$. Then $|U_{ij}^{(m)}|$ given in (4.3.1) and (4.3.2) and given implicitly for m > 2 decrease and then increase as a function of S_{ij} while all other S_{ij} are fixed. Also all other $|U_{ij}^{(m)}|$ do not change. These are the properties needed to prove MRD is admissible.

4.3.2 Example

In this section we illustrate the method with an $R \times C$ table example. The data to be used is the same as the data in table 4.2.1. For the purpose of illustration, we only

extract the first 3 rows of the original data for our example.

The data is:

	o_1	o_2	03	04	o_5	06
$\overline{A_1}$	125	60	26	49	14	5
A_2	47	65	66	123	23	21
A_3	31	58	110	223	64	32

There are a total of $2 \times 5 = 10$ local log odds ratios, i.e., a total of 10 hypotheses to be tested.

For MRD stage, we use critical values obtained from the significance level $1 - (1 - \alpha)^{1/k}$, k = 1, ..., 10 for our test statistics at step 10,9, ..., 1, respectively, where $\alpha = 0.05$. Hence the critical values are:

$$(\Omega_1, \dots, \Omega_{10}) = (2.80, 2.77, 2.73, 2.68, 2.63, 2.57, 2.49, 2.39, 2.24, 1.96)$$

At stage 1 step 1, we first solve the equations (4.3.3) - (4.3.6) to get the estimated mean of each cell given the row and column totals, under the assumption all local log odds ratios equal to 0. The mean value of each cell is shown below in 4.3.1.

Table 4.3.1: Step 1 – Expected cell frequencies

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1	49.59	44.71	49.35	96.50	24.68	14.17
2	61.33	55.28	61.02	119.33	30.51	17.52
3	92.08	83.01	91.63	179.17	45.81	26.31

After this, we can compute the conditional variance of S_{ij} . The conditional variance is shown below in 4.3.2.

Note the zerors in 4.3.2 reflect the fact that the corresponding S_{ij} variables are fixed.

Now, we can compute the test statistics $U_{ij}^{(1)}$, shown in 4.3.3.

Table 4.3.2: Step 1 – Conditional variances of S_{ij}

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1	30.82	47.18	52.66	25.27	10.16	0.00
2	41.37	63.33	70.70	33.92	13.64	0.00
3	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

Table 4.3.3: Step 1 – Test statistics $U_{ij}^{(1)}$

	1	2	3	4	5
1	13.58	13.20	9.28	3.95	2.88
2	9.50	10.82	8.05	4.10	1.54

The maximum of these is 13.58, which is greater than the critical value 2.80, hence we reject the hypothesis H_{11} and continue to next step. We also record the sign of the test: +.

At step 2, we estimate the mean of each cell conditioned on the row and column summation being fixed, and conditioned on all local log odds ratios except μ_{11} are 0, and also conditioned on S_{11} fixed. Solve the subset of equations (4.3.3) - (4.3.8) as explained earlier to get the estimated mean of each cell: shown in 4.3.4.

Table 4.3.4: Step 2 – Expected cell frequencies

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1	125.00	30.01	33.13	64.78	16.56	9.51
2	31.18	61.16	67.51	132.01	33.75	19.38
3	46.82	91.83	101.36	198.21	50.68	29.10

As in step 1, we can compute the conditional variance of S_{ij} : conditioned on S_{iC}, S_{Rj}, S_{11} are known and fixed. The conditional variance of S_{ij} are shown below in 4.3.5:

Now we can compute the test statistics $U_{ij}^{(2)}$:

The maximum of these is 7.18, which is greater than 2.77, so we reject H_{22} and continue to the next step. Also we record the sign of the test : +.

Table 4.3.5: Step 2 – Conditional variances of S_{ij}

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1	0.00	20.20	31.14	18.11	7.46	0.00
2	17.02	47.87	62.71	33.51	13.67	0.00
3	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

Table 4.3.6: Step 2 – Test statistics $U_{ij}^{(2)}$

	1	2	3	4	5
1		6.67	4.10	1.66	1.65
2	3.83	7.18	5.18	2.80	0.78

Step 3: We estimate the mean of each cell conditioned on the row and column sum fixed, conditioned on all local log odds ratios (except μ_{11} and μ_{22}) are 0, and also conditioned on S_{11} and S_{22} are fixed. As in step 2, solve the subset set of equations (4.3.3) - (4.3.8) to get the estimated mean of each cell.

Table 4.3.7: Step 3 – Expected cell frequencies

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1	125.00	42.79	29.72	58.11	14.86	8.53
2	46.19	83.02	57.66	112.75	28.83	16.56
3	31.81	57.19	114.63	224.15	57.31	32.91

Now, we can compute the conditional variance of S_{ij} : conditioned on S_{iC} , $i = 1, \ldots, R-1, S_{Rj}$, $j = 1, \ldots, C$, S_{11} and S_{22} are all fixed. The conditional variances of S_{ij} are in 4.3.8.

The test statistics $U_{ij}^{(3)}$ are in 4.3.9.

The maximum of these is 3.74, which is greater than the critical value 2.73. So we reject H_{12} , record the sign of the rejection : +, and continue to step 4.

Table 4.3.8: Step 3 – Conditional variances of S_{ij} 3 5 1 2 4 6 1 0.0021.1529.9316.69 6.840.00 2 12.550.0036.3330.8213.14 0.003 0.000.000.000.000.000.00

Table 4.3.9: Step 3 – Test statistics $U_{ij}^{(3)}$

	1	2	3	4	5
1		3.74	2.47	1.07	1.35
2	0.23		0.77	1.04	-0.25

Step 4: Estimate the mean of each cell conditioned on the row and column summation being fixed, and conditioned on all local log odds ratios (except μ_{11} , μ_{22} , and μ_{12}) are 0. Also condition on S_{11} , S_{22} , S_{12} . Solve a set of equations to get the estimated mean of each cell:

Table 4.3.10: Step 4 – Expected cell frequencies

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1	125.00	60.00	25.12	49.11	12.56	7.21
2	43.46	68.54	62.26	121.74	31.13	17.88
3	34.54	54.46	114.63	224.15	57.31	32.91

Now, we can compute the conditional variance of S_{ij} : conditioned on S_{iC} , $i = 1, ..., R-1, S_{Rj}$, j = 1, ..., C, S_{11} and S_{22}, S_{12} are all fixed. The conditional variance of S_{ij} are in 4.3.11.

Table 4.3.11: Step 4 – Conditional variances of S_{ij}

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1	0.00	0.00	16.12	13.67	5.83	0.00
2	11.78	0.00	36.33	30.82	13.14	0.00
3	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

The test Statistics $U_{ij}^{(4)}$ are in 4.3.12.

Table 4.3.12: Step 4 – Test statistics $U_{ij}^{(4)}$

	1	2	3	4	5
1	NA	NA	0.22	0.21	0.92
2	1.03	NA	0.77	1.04	-0.25

The maximum of these is 1.04, which is smaller than the critical value 2.68. So MRD stops here, and all remaining hypotheses are accepted.

Now the screening stage. The Pearson's Chi-square test statistic for the 10 local 2×2 tables are shown below:

Table 4.3.13: Screen – local Pearson's Chi-square P-values

	1	2	3	4	5
1	2.5×10^{-5}	0.0052	0.9171	0.3540	0.1917
2	0.3761	0.0120	0.7323	0.1388	0.1492

If we choose $\alpha_L = 0.005$, $\alpha_U = 0.05$, then it is clear that screening stage does not have any effect. So MRD+screening gives the same decisions as MRD.

It is clear that sign stage does not have any action either. So the decision of MRDSS is : reject H_{11} , H_{22} , H_{12} and accept all others.

4.4 Sign stage does not have effect in $2 \times C$ tables

In the two examples, one for $2 \times C$, one for $R \times C$, the sign stage of MRDSS does not have effect. This is not by chance. We actually can show that the sign stage does not have effect in testing equality of adjacent proportion in a $2 \times C$ table.

For a $2 \times c$ table, want to test $H_j : p_j = p_{j+1}$ for j = 1, ..., (c-1).

For the hypothesis H_j , we combine the whole table to get a 2×2 table A, with cell a_{ij} , i, j = 1, 2, and row and colum sum of this 2×2 table are named as r_1, r_2, c_1, c_2 , respectively. Note that $a_{11} = \sum_{l=1}^{j} x_{1l}$, $a_{12} = \sum_{j+1}^{c} x_{1l}$, $a_{21} = \sum_{l=1}^{j} x_{2l}$, and $a_{22} = \sum_{j+1}^{c} x_{2l}$.

Let
$$\hat{p_l}=a_{11}/c_1$$
 , $\hat{p_r}=a_{12}/c_2,\,\hat{p}=r_1/n$ and $\hat{p}_j=x_{1j}/(x_{1j}+x_{2j})$

First, we have lemma 4.4.1 that will be used to prove lemma 4.4.2.

Lemma 4.4.1. If $0 < p_1 < x < p_2$, and $0 < w_1, w_2 < 1$, then

$$w_1p_1 + (1 - w_1)x + p_2 > p_1 + (1 - w_2)x + w_2p_2$$

The proof is easy. We omit it here.

Lemma 4.4.2. For $2 \times c$ table, at stage 1, if the residual U_j has largest absolute value and $U_j < 0$, then :

- (1) $\hat{p}_l < \hat{p} < \hat{p}_r$;
- (2) $\hat{p}_j < \hat{p}_r$;
- (3) $\hat{p}_j < (\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r)/2$.

Proof. (1) is obvious. If j = 1, (2) and (3) are obvious, only need to consider $j \ge 2$. Let

$$t_j = x_{1j} + x_{2j}$$
 , $z = x_{1j}/q$

First, we know that the residual square for j is:

$$U^2 = \frac{(a_{11} - r_1 c_1/n)^2}{r_1 r_2 c_1 c_2/n^3}$$

The residual square for j-1 is:

$$U^{*2} = \frac{(a_{11}^* - r_1 c_1^*/n)^2}{r_1 r_2 c_1^* c_2^*/n^3}$$

where $a_{11}^* = a_{11} - t_j z$, $c_1^* = c_1 - t_j$.

Since r_1r_2/n^3 is the same factor for both residual squares, for now we can ignore them.

Let

$$F(q,z) = \frac{(a_11 - qz - r_1(c_1 - q)/n)^2}{(c_1 - q)(c_2 + q)}$$

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial q}|_{q=0} = \frac{1}{c_2}(\hat{p}_l - \hat{p})(\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r - 2z)$$

.

If (2) is not true, then

$$(*) \qquad \frac{\partial F}{\partial q}|_{q=0} > 0$$

Hence F(q,z) > F(0,z) for small q > 0, and then we have a new 2×2 table, with new $a_{11}^{new} = a_{11} - qz$, and the new \hat{p}_l, \hat{p}_r . It is easy to see that for this new 2×2 table, (*) still holds, so F(2q,z) > F(q,z), continue the process until $q = t_j$, we get $F(t_j,z) > F(0,z)$. But this contradicts to the condition that $U^2 > U^{*2}$. So (2) is proved.

If (3) is not true, then $z > (\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r)/2$ and $\hat{p}_l < z < \hat{p}_r$, since (*) is true, we also have F(q,z) > F(0,z) for small q > 0. Now the new 2×2 table, we have $a_{11}^{new} = a_{11} - qz$, and the new $\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r$ becomes

$$\frac{a_{11}^{new}}{c_1^{new}} + \frac{a_{12} + qz}{c_2 + q}$$
$$= \hat{p}_l^{new} + (1 - w_2)z + (1 - w_2)\hat{p}_r$$

where $w_2 = c_2/(c_2 + q)$

the original $\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r$ can be written as

$$\frac{a_{11}^{new} + qz}{c_1^{new} + q} + \hat{p}_r$$

$$= w_1 \hat{p}_l^{new} + (1 - w_1)z + \hat{p}_r$$

Remember that $\hat{p}_l < z < \hat{p}_r$, so we have $\hat{p}_l^{new} < \hat{p}_l$, hence we have $\hat{p}_l^{new} < z < \hat{p}_r$, apply lemma 4.4.1, we see that the new $\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r$ is smaller than the original $\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r$, which means (*) is hold for the new 2×2 table. So again we have F(2q, z) > F(q, z), proceed until $q = t_j$ we get $F(t_j, z) > F(0, z)$. But this contradicts to the condition that $U^2 > U^{*2}$. So (3) is proved.

By symmetry, we have following Lemma.

Lemma 4.4.3. For $2 \times c$ table, at stage 1, if the residual U_j has largest absolute value and $U_j > 0$, then :

- (1) $\hat{p}_l > \hat{p} > \hat{p}_r$;
- (2) $\hat{p}_{j} > \hat{p}_{r}$;
- (3) $\hat{p}_j > (\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r)/2$.

Theorem 4.4.4. For $2 \times c$ table, at stage 1, if the residual U_{j1} has largest absolute value then U_{j_1} has same sign as that of $\hat{p}_{j_1} - \hat{p}_{j_1+1}$.

Proof. Without loss of generality, assume $U_{j_1} < 0$, then from lemma 4.4.2 we know that $\hat{p}_{j_1} < (\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r)/2$. If we do a mirror reflection of the $2 \times c$ table,i.e, if the original table is:

x_{11}	x_{12}	 x_{1j}	 x_{1c}
x_{21}	x_{22}	 x_{2j}	 x_{2c}

the mirror reflect table is:

x_{1c}	$x_{1(c-1)}$	 x_{1j}	 x_{11}
x_{21}	$x_{2(c-1)}$	 x_{2j}	 x_{21}

If we label the column of this mirror reflect table from right to left, then column 1 in both the original table and mirror reflect table denote the same column : $(x_{11}, x_{12})'$.

Now from lemma 4.4.3 we know that $\hat{p}_{j_1+1} > (\hat{p}_l + \hat{p}_r)/2$. Hence $\hat{p}_{j_1} < \hat{p}_{j_1+1}$.

It is easy to see that theorem 4.4.4 is also true at any stage m. Hence MRD+screening is same as MRD+screening+sign, which is admissible.

Chapter 5

Computational issues and choosing of critical values

Step-down or step-up procedures oftentimes use P-values based on the marginal distribution of individual test statistics under individual null hypotheses. These procedures in general require little computational effort. There are standard ways to choose the critical values such that FWER or FDR is controlled at predefined levels. However, those procedures are oftentimes inadmissible. MRDSS has the advantage of being admissible and consistent. The screen stage in general is easy to perform without much effort. However, in the MRD stage, the computation of test statistics U_{mj} at step m needs some computation effort, and the choice of critical values in general need to be done by simulations.

5.1 Computation of MRDSS in multivariate normal model

For the multivariate normal model, at the MRD stage, the inverse of Σ is needed. In some cases, the inversion can be derived theoretically. In the context of regression model, since MRD is equivalent to a forward method, the computation of MRD can be done for very large problems, i.e., very large number of hypotheses.

5.2 Computation of MRDSS in ordered contingency table

For MRDSS in ordered $R \times C$ tables, at the MRD stage, computation of test statistics U_{mj} at step m needs an estimation of the mean cell frequencies under following conditions:

- (1) row and column sum are fixed
- (2) odds ratio $\theta_{ij} = 1$ for all (i, j) where H_{ij} has not been rejected.

(3) $S_{i_1j_1}, \ldots, S_{i_{(m-1)}j_{(m-1)}}$ are fixed, where $H_{i_1j_1}, \ldots, H_{i_{(m-1)}j_{(m-1)}}$ are rejected at step $1, \ldots, (m-1)$, respectively.

As we mentioned before, the estimation of mean cell frequencies can be achieved by solving a set of equations. We now explicitly describe a numerical method to solve the equations.

At step 1, the unique non-negative solution of the equations (4.3.3) - (4.3.8) is: $\hat{\lambda}_{ij} = R_i t_j / n$, where R_i is the sum of row i, and t_j is the sum of column j.

At step m, to solve the equations for estimating λ_{ij} , we transform the equationsolving problem into a minimization problem. Let,

$$f_m(\lambda) = \left(\sum_{k,l} \lambda_{kl} - n\right)^2 + \sum_{j=1}^{C-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^R \lambda_{kj} - t_j\right)^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{R-1} \left(\sum_{l=1}^C \lambda_{il} - R_i\right)^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{R-1} \sum_{j=1}^{C-1} d_{ij}^2$$
(5.2.1)

where

$$d_{ij} = \begin{cases} \lambda_{ij}\lambda_{(i+1)(j+1)} - \lambda_{(i+1)j}\lambda_{i(j+1)} & \text{if } H_{ij} \text{ is not rejected before step m} \\ \sum_{k \leq i_1, l \leq j_1}\lambda_{kl} - S_{ij} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

It is clear that $f_m(\lambda) \geq 0$ for all λ .

Let $\hat{\lambda}$ be the unique non-negative solution of equations (4.3.3) - (4.3.8). This implies $f_m(\hat{\lambda}) = 0$. Hence $\hat{\lambda}$ is the point that minimizes f_m . So by minimizing f_m , we can get the solution of equations (4.3.3) - (4.3.8).

It is obvious that f_m is a convex function for $\lambda \geq 0$, hence the minimization of f_m can be done very easily and efficiently by existing software. In our study, we use the nlm function in the popular $\mathbf{R}(2008)$ software to minimize f_m .

After we solve the equations, i.e, we get $\hat{\lambda}$, we compute the conditional variance of S_{ij} . This enables us to complete the computation of $U_{ij}^{(m)}$.

5.3 Choosing the critical values

Choosing of critical values needs to be done according to the situations. For MRDSS this, in principle, can be done by simulating a list of settings that cover or represent most of the interested parameter space. One can change the critical value to control FWER or FDR or to balance the type I and type II errors. Note here that the simulation needs to be done before we see the data. In the multivariate normal case that means, before simulation, we only know Σ , but not X; in the ordered $R \times C$ contingency table, that means we know the row and column sums, but not the table itself.

For an $R \times C$ ordered contingency table, the MRD statistics at step m is U_{mj} . For large sample size, U_{mj} has approximately a standard normal distribution under the global null hypothesis. For simplicity, we use critical values $C_m = \Phi(1 - \alpha_m/2)$, where Φ is the CDF for standard normal distribution, $\alpha_m = 1 - (1 - \alpha)^{1/(M - m + 1)}$, and M = (R - 1)(C - 1); for screen stage, we choose $\alpha_U = \alpha$, $\alpha_L = \alpha_1$.

Chapter 6

Simulations of MRDSS in ordered contingency tables

We did some simulations to compare our method, MRDSS, to Holm's step down method. FWER is control at level $\alpha=0.05$ for Holm's step-down (SD) method for ordered contingency table. To control FWER or FDR, for MRD, usually we need to choose a set of critical values by simulation. In the case of $R \times C$ table, we find that adding screen stage makes it relative easy to pick critical values.

For the MRD stage of MRDSS we use critical values obtained from the normal distribution based on significance levels $\alpha_i = 1 - (1 - \alpha)^{\frac{1}{M+1-i}}$ in step i. Here $\alpha = .05$, M is the total number of hypotheses to be tested. For the screen stage we use $\alpha_L = 1 - (1 - \alpha)^{1/M}$, $\alpha_U = \alpha = .05$. For a 3 × 3 table, M = 4; for a 3 × 4 table, M=6.

Note that if we only play MRD (instead of MRDSS) using the critical values mentioned above, FWER can not be controlled at many parameter points. Adding an intuitive reasonable screen stage, we found that FWER is controlled at all the parameter points we explored.

6.1 Simulation for 3×3 tables

We first list 34 sets of local odds ratios. For the 3×3 table, each set contains 4 local odds ratios.

For each set, we generate N = 10,000 3 × 3 tables from independent Poisson distributions with parameters in a 3 × 3 matrix λ . The matrix λ is chosen such that the true local odds ratios are listed in the left 4 columns of Table 6.1.1, and the row and column sum of λ_{ij} are 60. Since local odds ratios and row/col sum of λ_{ij} uniquely define λ , λ

itself is not shown in the table.

We compare the expected number of type I errors, expected number of type II errors and FWER of MRDSS and SD. We also give the percentage power increase of MRDSS relative to SD.

For the 3×3 table, note that both MRDSS and SD control FWER at $\alpha = .05$. Also note that in 29 out of 33 cases MRDSS had an increase in power over SD and in many cases the increase was substantial.

The type I and type II error columns reflect the average number of type I and type II errors respectively.

We define the power of a MTP as:

```
power = 1 - E { # of type II errors } / # of true non-null hypotheses.
```

The percentage power increase of MRDSS relative to SD is defined as:

```
power incr = 100 \times (power_{MRDSS} - power_{SD})/power_{SD}
```

6.2 Simulation for 3×4 tables

For 3×4 tables, we did a simulate for total of 70 configurations of local odds ratios. For each row, the row sum of the Poisson parameter λ is 80, and for each column, the column sum is 60. For each configuration, the first 6 columns show the true local odds ratios. We then choose (compute) the Poisson parameters λ (a 3×4 matrix, one for each cell) based on the row/column sum and true local odds ratios. λ is not shown since it is uniquely determined from the configuration.

Using likewise critical values as before, i.e., for the MRD stage of MRDSS we use

critical values obtained from the standard normal distribution based on significance levels $1 - (1 - \alpha)^{\frac{1}{M+1-i}}$ in step i; for the screen stage we use $\alpha_L = 1 - (1 - \alpha)^{1/M}$, $\alpha_U = \alpha = .05$. Here, M=6.

For each configuration, we simulate $N = 10,000~3 \times 3$ tables from independent Poisson distributions with parameters (a 3×4 matrix computed as described above) λ .

We then summarize the simulation with mean number of type I error, mean number of type II errors, mean FWER, and mean increase in power.

See table 6.2.1 and table 6.2.2 for the simulation results for 3×4 tables.

Note that MRDSS strongly controls FWER at level $\alpha=.05$ in all 70 cases, except one (where MRDSS has a mean FWER = 0.051). We also compare the percentage power increase of MRDSS relative to stepdown method. MRDSS had an increase in power with only one exception. The increase was substantial in most cases.

Table 6.1.1: Comparison of MRDSS to Holm's step down (SD) for 3×3 tables

	θ_{11}	θ_{21}	θ_{12}	θ_{22}	Туре	e I	Type	II	FWE		% P. Inc
					MRDSS	SD	MRDSS	SD	MRDSS	SD	
1	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.038	0.036	0.000	0.000	0.036	0.031	
2	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	0.044	0.034	0.433	0.587	0.043	0.031	37.0
3	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.3	0.044	0.033	0.483	0.618	0.041	0.028	35.1
4	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	0.032	0.027	0.994	1.238	0.031	0.025	31.9
5	3.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	0.044	0.027	0.736	0.983	0.044	0.026	24.2
6	1.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	0.041	0.028	1.104	1.325	0.040	0.026	32.7
7	0.3	1.0	1.0	0.3	0.041	0.026	1.086	1.302	0.039	0.025	30.9
8	1.0	0.3	0.3	1.0	0.044	0.027	0.725	0.972	0.043	0.026	24.0
9	1.0	1.0	0.3	3.0	0.029	0.025	1.208	1.185	0.028	0.023	-2.9
10	1.0	1.0	0.3	0.3	0.030	0.024	0.992	1.227	0.029	0.022	30.4
11	1.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	0.022	0.013	1.651	1.979	0.022	0.013	32.1
12	1.0	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.020	0.015	1.338	1.677	0.020	0.015	25.6
13	0.3	3.0	3.0	3.0	0.000	0.000	2.379	2.304	0.000	0.000	-4.4
14	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	0.000	0.000	2.075	2.437	0.000	0.000	23.2
15	3.0	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.000	0.000	2.298	2.205	0.000	0.000	-5.2
16	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.000	0.000	2.073	2.412	0.000	0.000	21.4
17	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.5	0.037	0.028	0.812	0.869	0.035	0.024	43.1
18	0.5	1.0	1.0	0.5	0.035	0.026	1.630	1.757	0.034	0.024	52.5
19	1.0	0.5	0.5	1.0	0.034	0.022	1.510	1.682	0.034	0.021	53.9
20	1.0	1.0	0.5	3.0	0.025	0.022	1.414	1.450	0.024	0.021	6.6
21	1.0	1.0	0.5	0.5	0.026	0.018	1.549	1.741	0.025	0.017	74.3
22	1.0	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.019	0.011	2.264	2.554	0.019	0.011	65.1
23	0.5	3.0	3.0	3.0	0.000	0.000	2.695	2.711	0.000	0.000	1.3
24	3.0	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.000	0.000	3.120	3.154	0.000	0.000	4.0
25	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.000	0.000	3.059	3.453	0.000	0.000	72.0
26	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	0.043	0.032	0.787	0.860	0.042	0.028	51.5
27	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.029	0.023	1.554	1.740	0.028	0.021	71.6
28	2.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	0.035	0.024	1.511	1.675	0.035	0.023	50.7
29	1.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	0.036	0.024	1.632	1.757	0.035	0.023	51.6
30	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.018	0.012	2.387	2.626	0.018	0.012	63.9
31	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.000	0.000	3.061	3.463	0.000	0.000	74.9
32	1.0	1.0	0.5	2.0	0.024	0.024	1.726	1.718	0.024	0.021	-2.9
33	0.5	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.000	0.000	3.369	3.451	0.000	0.000	15.0
34	2.0	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.000	0.000	3.291	3.429	0.000	0.000	24.2

Table 6.2.1: Comparison of MRDSS (M) to Holm's step down (SD) for 3×4 tables, where % Inc denotes % Power Increase.

	θ_{11}	θ_{21}	θ_{12}	θ_{22}	θ_{13}	θ_{23}	Ty	ое I	Typ	e II	FW	ER	% Inc
		21	12		10	20	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	
1	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.042	0.037	0.000	0.000	0.038	0.031	
2	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	0.040	0.030	0.799	0.894	0.038	0.027	90.1
3	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.049	0.033	0.788	0.887	0.047	0.029	86.7
4	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.046	0.032	0.798	0.890	0.044	0.028	84.6
5	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.036	0.024	1.571	1.793	0.034	0.021	107.5
6	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	0.044	0.024	1.557	1.788	0.042	0.022	108.7
7	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	0.051	0.027	1.544	1.761	0.049	0.024	90.4
8	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	0.045	0.025	1.600	1.793	0.043	0.023	93.3
9	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	0.049	0.025	1.535	1.748	0.048	0.023	84.9
10	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	2.0	0.037	0.028	1.545	1.789	0.036	0.026	115.7
11	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.039	0.021	2.320	2.660	0.038	0.019	99.7
12	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.040	0.022	2.428	2.706	0.039	0.019	94.9
13	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.032	0.019	2.315	2.675	0.031	0.017	110.7
14	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.035	0.018	2.419	2.716	0.034	0.018	104.3
15	2.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	0.039	0.022	2.316	2.655	0.038	0.020	98.4
16	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	0.024	0.013	3.113	3.593	0.023	0.013	117.8
17	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	0.038	0.019	2.431	2.728	0.037	0.018	108.9
18	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	2.0	0.038	0.022	2.305	2.645	0.037	0.021	95.8
19	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.025	0.014	3.114	3.593	0.024	0.013	117.7
20	2.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.027	0.013	3.140	3.589	0.027	0.012	109.1
21	1.0	2.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.024	0.013	3.242	3.640	0.024	0.012	110.2
22	1.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.033	0.016	3.166	3.599	0.033	0.016	107.7
23	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	2.0	0.031	0.015	3.218	3.583	0.031	0.015	87.7
24	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	0.032	0.013	3.280	3.667	0.031	0.013	116.6
25	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.000	0.000	4.694	5.392	0.000	0.000	114.7
26	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	0.042	0.030	0.422	0.621	0.040	0.026	52.7
27	1.0	1.0	3.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.046	0.029	0.430	0.647	0.045	0.026	61.5
28	3.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.045	0.033	0.424	0.626	0.042	0.029	54.1
29	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	0.036	0.029	1.044	1.368	0.034	0.025	51.3
30	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	1.0	0.047	0.025	0.965	1.350	0.046	0.024	59.2
31	3.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	0.053	0.032	0.763	1.149	0.051	0.029	45.4
32	1.0	3.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	0.047	0.030	1.011	1.342	0.045	0.027	50.2
33	1.0	1.0	3.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	0.048	0.025	0.768	1.134	0.046	0.022	42.2
34	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	1.0	3.0	0.040	0.029	0.954	1.321	0.038	0.026	54.1
35	3.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	0.038	0.021	1.446	1.919	0.036	0.020	43.7
36	1.0	3.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	0.039	0.021	1.715	2.143	0.038	0.019	50.0
37	1.0	1.0	3.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	0.035	0.024	1.471	1.951	0.033	0.022	45.7
38	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	0.038	0.020	1.686	2.149	0.037	0.019	54.4
39	3.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	1.0	0.042	0.024	1.348	1.850	0.041	0.023	43.7
40	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	1.0	0.025	0.014	2.211	2.755	0.024	0.013	43.8
41	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	0.045	0.022	1.723	2.188	0.044	0.021	57.2
42	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	3.0	0.039	0.022	1.351	1.844	0.039	0.022	42.6
43	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	0.026	0.016	2.216	2.738	0.026	0.016	41.3
44	3.0	3.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	0.032	0.016	2.213	2.724	0.031	0.016	40.1

Table 6.2.2: (Continue) Comparison of MRDSS (M) to Holm's step down (SD) for 3×4 tables

	θ_{11}	θ_{21}	θ_{12}	θ_{22}	θ_{13}	θ_{23}	Type I		Type II		FWER		% Inc
							M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	
45	1.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	0.036	0.020	2.252	2.793	0.036	0.019	44.8
46	1.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	3.0	0.035	0.015	2.197	2.762	0.035	0.015	45.6
47	1.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	0.036	0.015	2.519	3.091	0.036	0.015	62.9
48	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	0.000	0.000	3.473	4.241	0.000	0.000	43.7
49	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.5	2.0	0.033	0.029	1.781	1.784	0.032	0.026	1.6
50	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	0.5	1.0	0.038	0.031	1.688	1.789	0.037	0.028	47.8
51	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	0.5	1.0	0.034	0.028	1.789	1.782	0.032	0.025	-3.4
52	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	0.5	1.0	0.040	0.029	1.659	1.778	0.038	0.026	53.6
53	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.5	1.0	0.031	0.024	1.717	1.784	0.029	0.022	31.1
54	1.0	1.0	2.0	0.5	1.0	1.0	0.038	0.025	1.743	1.773	0.036	0.023	13.5
55	1.0	2.0	1.0	0.5	1.0	1.0	0.031	0.025	1.766	1.768	0.029	0.022	0.6
56	2.0	1.0	1.0	0.5	1.0	1.0	0.034	0.024	1.677	1.783	0.033	0.022	48.9
57	0.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.026	0.021	2.437	2.675	0.025	0.019	72.9
58	1.0	0.5	1.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.027	0.020	2.452	2.688	0.026	0.019	75.6
59	1.0	1.0	0.5	1.0	2.0	2.0	0.029	0.021	2.526	2.676	0.028	0.019	46.1
60	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.5	2.0	2.0	0.027	0.022	2.571	2.691	0.026	0.020	39.1
61	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.5	2.0	0.029	0.020	2.602	2.661	0.028	0.018	17.4
62	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	0.5	2.0	0.033	0.021	2.573	2.683	0.031	0.020	34.8
63	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	0.5	2.0	0.036	0.019	2.601	2.654	0.035	0.017	15.4
64	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	0.5	2.0	0.028	0.020	2.505	2.695	0.026	0.018	62.3
65	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.5	0.5	0.000	0.000	4.914	5.360	0.000	0.000	69.6
66	2.0	2.0	0.5	0.5	2.0	2.0	0.000	0.000	5.135	5.322	0.000	0.000	27.5
67	0.5	0.5	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.000	0.000	4.897	5.357	0.000	0.000	71.7
68	2.0	0.5	2.0	0.5	2.0	2.0	0.000	0.000	5.056	5.361	0.000	0.000	47.6
69	0.5	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.5	0.000	0.000	5.166	5.355	0.000	0.000	29.3
70	2.0	0.5	2.0	2.0	0.5	2.0	0.000	0.000	5.026	5.296	0.000	0.000	38.3

Bibliography

- H. An and L. Gu. On the selection of regression variables. *Acta Math. Appl. Sin*, 2: 27–36, 1985.
- Y. Benjamini and Y. Hochberg. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *Journal Royal Statistical Society Series B*, 57: 289–289, 1995.
- F. Bunea, M.H. Wegkamp, and A. Auguste. Consistent variable selection in high dimensional regression via multiple testing. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, 136(12):4349–4364, 2006.
- C. Chen, A. Cohen, and H.B. Sackrowitz. Admissible, consistent multiple testing with applications including variable selection, 2009a. Submitted.
- C. Chen, A. Cohen, and H.B. Sackrowitz. Multiple testing in ordinal data models, 2009b. Submitted.
- R. Christensen. Plane Answers to Complex Questions: The Theory of Linear Models. Springer, 1987.
- A. Cohen. Optimality Properties of Some Tests for Homogeneity in Contingency Tables. Statistics, 18:591–597, 1987.
- A. Cohen and H.B. Sackrowitz. Testing whether treatment is "better" than control with ordered categorical data: Definition and complete class theorems. Statistics and Decisions, 18:1–25, 2000.
- A. Cohen and H.B. Sackrowitz. Decision theory results for one-sided multiple comparison procedures. *Ann. Statist*, 33(1):126–144, 2005a.

- A. Cohen and H.B. Sackrowitz. Characterization of Bayes procedures for multiple endpoint problems and inadmissibility of the step-up procedure. *Annals of Statistics*, 33(1):145–158, 2005b.
- A. Cohen and H.B. Sackrowitz. More on the inadmissibility of step-up. *Journal of Multivariate Analysis*, 98(3):481–492, 2007.
- A. Cohen and H.B. Sackrowitz. Multiple testing to two-sided alternatives with dependent data. Statistica Sinica, 18:1593–1602, 2008.
- A. Cohen, J. Kolassa, and H.B. Sackrowitz. A smooth version of the step-up procedure for multiple tests of hypotheses. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, 137 (11):3352–3360, 2007.
- A. Cohen, H.B. Sackrowitz, and M. Xu. A new multiple testing method in the dependent case. Annals of Statistics, 37, 2009.
- V. Dardanoni and A. Forcina. An unified approach to likelihood inference on stochastic orderings in a nonparametric context. *Journal of the American Statistical Associa*tion, 93:1112–1123, 1998.
- S. Dudoit and M.J. Van Der Laan. Multiple Testing Procedures with Applications to Genomics. Springer Verlag, 2008.
- D.V. Glass. Social Mobility in Britain. Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1954.
- L.A. Goodman, EB Andersen, JP Benzecri, A. Baccini, H. Caussinus, A. De Falguerolles, C.C. Clogg, CR Rao, DR Cox, and S.J. Haberman. Measures, Models, and Graphical Displays in the Analysis of Cross-Classified Data. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 86(416):1085–1111, 1991.
- Y. Hochberg. A sharper Bonferroni procedure for multiple tests of significance. Biometrika, 75:800–802, 1988.
- S. Holm. A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. Scandinavian Journal of Statistics, pages 65–70, 1979.

- E.L. Lehmann and J.P. Romano. Testing Statistical Hypotheses. Springer, third edition edition, 2005.
- R. Marcus, P. Eric, and KR Gabriel. On closed testing procedures with special reference to ordered analysis of variance. *Biometrika*, 63:655–660, 1976.
- TK Matthes and DR Truax. Tests of composite hypotheses for the multivariate exponential family. *Ann. Math. Statist*, 38:681–697, 1967.
- A. Miller. Subset Selection in Regression. Chapman and Hall/CRC, second edition edition, 2002.
- R Development Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, 2008. URL http://www.R-project.org. ISBN 3-900051-07-0.
- S.K. Sarkar and C.K. Chang. The Simes method for multiple hypothesis testing with positively dependent test statistics. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 92, 1997.
- J.P. Shaffer. Modified sequentially rejective multiple test procedures. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 81:826–831, 1986.
- M.J. Silvapulle and P.K. Sen. *Constrained statistical inference*. Wiley-Interscience, 2005.

Vita

Chuanwen Chen

2006-2009	Ph. D. in Statistics, Rutgers University
2004-2006	Graduate study in BioMaPs, Rutgers University
2001-2004	Graduate study in Biology, University of Science and Technology of China
1993-1998	B. Sc. in Physics, University of Science and Technology of China
1998-2001	Research assistant, Institute of Applied Physics & Computational Mathematics, Beijing, China
2003 spring	Teaching Assistant, University of Science and Technology of China
2004-2006	Fellowship, BioMaPs, Rutgers University
2006-2007	Teaching Assistant, Department of Statistics, Rutgers University
2007-2008	Graduate Assistant, Department of Genetics, Rutgers University
2008-2009	Teaching Assistant, Department of Statistics, Rutgers University